# Copper Mountain College AGREEMENT

Between

Copper Mountain Community College District
And

California School Employees Association and its Copper Mountain Chapter 800



Copper Mountain Community College District and California School Employees Association and its Chapter 800 join to create a college culture that is based on a commitment to excellence, focused on service to students, and is dedicated to staff advancement and development.

July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2025

Board Approval: 04/13/2023 Chapter 800 ratification: 03/30/2023

# **Table of Contents**

ARTICLE 1:	Recognition	4
ARTICLE 2:	Nondiscrimination	4
ARTICLE 3:	No Concerted Activities	4
ARTICLE 4:	District Rights	5
ARTICLE 5:	Association Rights	6
ARTICLE 6:	Organizational Security	9
ARTICLE 7:	Hours of Employment and Overtime	10
ARTICLE 8:	Holidays	14
ARTICLE 9:	Vacation	15
ARTICLE 10:	Leaves	17
ARTICLE 11:	[Intentionally Blank]	28
ARTICLE 12:	Evaluation Procedures	28
ARTICLE 13:	Vacancies, Transfers, and Promotions	29
ARTICLE 14:	Reclassification	32
ARTICLE 15:	Layoff and Reemployment	35
ARTICLE 16:	Discipline	37
ARTICLE 17:	Grievance Procedure	40
ARTICLE 18:	Compensation and Benefits	43
ARTICLE 19:	Health and Welfare Benefits	46
ARTICLE 20:	Professional Growth	48
ARTICLE 21:	Subcontracting	50
ARTICLE 22:	Release Time	50
ARTICLE 23:	Safety	51
ARTICLE 24:	Personnel Files	52
ARTICLE 25:	Savings and Separability	53
ARTICLE 26:	Complete Understanding	53
ARTICLE 27:	Term and Duration	53
APPENDIX A:	Grievance Form	54
APPENDIX B:	Classified Salary Schedules	56
APPENDIX C:	Performance Evaluation Report	62
APPENDIX D:	Catastrophic Leave Donation Form	65
APPENDIX E:	Catastrophic Leave Withdrawal Form	66
APPENDIX F:	Professional Growth Application	67
APPENDIX G:	Waiver of Lunch/Meal Period	68
APPENDIX H:	Overtime/Comp Time Approval Form	69
APPENDIX I:	Report/Request of Absence Form	70

Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)		
APPENDIX J:	Reclassification Request Form	. 71
APPENDIX K:	Request For Presidential Paid Release Time Form	. 73

# **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is entered into this 6th day of March 2023, by and between the Copper Mountain Community College District Board of Trustees (Board) on behalf of the Copper Mountain Community College District (District) and the California School Employees Association (CSEA) on its own behalf and on behalf of its Chapter 800.

# **ARTICLE 1:** Recognition

The Copper Mountain Community College District (District) recognizes the California School Employees Association and its Chapter 800 (CSEA) as the exclusive bargaining representative for the bargaining unit certified by PERB in Case No. LA-RR-1069-E and described as follows:

<u>Included:</u> All full-time or part-time permanent and probationary classified employees.

<u>Excluded:</u> Short term and substitute employees, all management, supervisory and confidential employees.

#### ARTICLE 2: Nondiscrimination

Neither the District nor CSEA shall unlawfully discriminate against any employee on the basis of race, ethnicity, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, national origin or age. Nor shall the District or CSEA unlawfully discriminate against any employee because of their participation in lawful CSEA activities or because of them refraining from participating in such activities.

#### **ARTICLE 3:** No Concerted Activities

- 3.1. The purpose of this clause is to provide for peaceful, harmonious, and uninterrupted services regardless of disputes which arise under this Agreement or outside the scope of this Agreement.
- 3.2. Accordingly, during the term of this Agreement and any mutually agreed upon written extension of this Agreement, and in addition to legal restrictions upon and remedies for work stoppages, CSEA agrees and understands on behalf of itself and its officers, agents and members that it shall not call, sanction, condone and/or participate in a strike, work stoppage, slowdown, or refusal or failure fully and faithfully to perform job functions and responsibilities, nor will there be compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activities.
- 3.3. CSEA recognizes the duty and obligation of its representatives to comply with the provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort toward inducing all employees to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, a slowdown, or other interference with the operations of the District by employees who are represented by CSEA, CSEA agrees in good faith to take all necessary steps to cause those employees to cease such action.

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
- 3.4. It is understood that, in the event this Article is violated, the District shall be entitled to pursue any and all lawful remedies through available legal and/or administrative forums including, but not limited to, withdrawing any rights, privileges or services provided for in this Agreement, in Board policy, or by Government Code section 3543.1 from any employee and/or CSEA.
- 3.5. During the term of this Agreement, or any agreed upon extension thereof, the District agrees not to lock out bargaining unit members.

# **ARTICLE 4:** District Rights

- 4.1. Except as expressly modified or restricted by a specific provision of this Agreement or a mandatory provision of the California Education Code, it is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control the District, its operations and employees to the full extent of applicable law, state or federal, and that all statutory and inherent managerial rights, powers, duties, prerogatives and functions are retained and vested exclusively in the District.
- 4.2. Such rights, powers, duties, prerogatives and functions include, but are not limited to, the rights, in its sole and exclusive judgment and discretion to: determine its organization, to determine the number of employees to be employed, to hire employees, determine their qualifications and assign and direct their work; to counsel, reprimand, discipline and dismiss its employees; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided as well as the methods and means of providing them; to determine the times and hours of operation, set the starting and quitting times for on- duty and/or on-site hours; to maintain the efficiency and flexibility of operations; to determine the personnel, methods, means, equipment and facilities by which operations are conducted; to establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; ensure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; to establish and maintain standards of productivity in terms of educational attainment and achievement, both qualitatively and quantitatively; determine the kinds of personnel required; to use consultants, to subcontract all or a portion of services not normally and customarily performed by unit members only in accordance with this Agreement, with applicable state law(s) and per state education code requirements; to open, close, move or transfer facilities and/or operations; to expand, reduce, alter, combine, transfer, assign, reassign, or cease any department, operation or service; to control and regulate the use of instructional materials, equipment, utilities, facilities, instruments communication; to introduce new or improved research, instructional methods, techniques, materials and equipment; to determine the curriculum; build, move, add or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocations; determine the methods of raising revenue; to issue, amend and revise policies, rules, regulations and practices; and generally to take whatever action is necessary, advisable or appropriate to determine, manage and fulfill the District's mission; to classify, assign, reassign, evaluate, promote, non-reelect and layoff employees; and to take any action in the event of an emergency including, but not limited to, amending, modifying or rescinding provisions of the Agreement, and policies or practices thereunder, limited, however to the duration of the emergency. The determination of whether an emergency exists is solely within the District's

discretion and is expressly excluded from the provisions of the Agreement's Grievance Procedure; indeed the entire operation of this Article is specifically excluded from the Grievance Procedure.

- 4.3. The District defines an emergency as: a temporary situation in which the health and safety of students, employees, and community members and/or District facilities are in peril and extraordinary actions are necessary in order to immediately address the emergency. Examples of "Emergencies" include but are not limited to the following: natural disasters, act of war or terrorism, declaration of martial law, insurrection, revolution, flood, earthquake, fire, epidemic, plague, or utilities failure. The determination of whether an emergency exists is solely within the District's discretion.
- 4.4. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of the Agreement (such limitation shall not apply in case of emergency), and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law.
- 4.5. The District's failure to exercise any right, prerogative, or function specifically or implicitly reserved to it, or the District's exercise of any such right, prerogative, or function in a particular way, shall not be considered a waiver of the District's right to exercise such right, prerogative, or function or preclude it from exercising the same in some other way not in conflict with express provisions of the Agreement.
- 4.6. The entire operation of this article is specifically excluded from the Grievance Procedure.

# **ARTICLE 5:** Association Rights

- 5.1. Subject to reasonable rules and regulations, CSEA shall have the right to use school buildings, facilities, and equipment for CSEA activities only outside established work time, except:
  - a. When an authorized CSEA representative secures advance permission from the Superintendent or their designee for use of school facilities within established work time;
  - b. When CSEA activities do not interfere with school program or duties of unit members;
  - c. When CSEA activities do not interfere with the rights of employees to refrain from listening to or speaking with CSEA representatives.
- 5.2. CSEA shall have the right to post notices with an appropriate CSEA identification, regarding activities and matters of CSEA concern on designated bulletin boards, at least one of which shall be provided in each college building in areas frequented by unit members. CSEA may use the District employee email and mailboxes for communications to unit members. CSEA use of District e-mails shall be limited to the following: Notice of Meetings, Agenda for Meeting, Minutes of Meeting, general

Chapter business communications and updates, confirming a meeting with a District representative, or a limited distribution communiqué between an authorized Chapter officer and a District representative; also permitted are communications between the designated CSEA labor relations representative and unit members, Chapter officers and unit members, and/or District representatives concerning CSEA business or representational issues. CSEA will not use e- mail to denigrate the District or its personnel and will observe the prohibitions of Education Code section 7054.

- 5.3. Authorized representatives of CSEA shall be permitted to transact official CSEA business on college property when it does not interfere with the college program or duties of the unit members.
- 5.4. CSEA agrees to pay a reasonable fee for any unusual wear or damage to District facilities caused by CSEA activities.
- 5.5. CSEA officers shall have the right to attend board agenda review meetings. The District shall distribute copies of the board packet to the CSEA chapter president, one (1) copy to the Chapter President's designee whose name will be forwarded to the District each January 30th. One (1) copy will be sent to the assigned CSEA staff person, if requested. Such copies of the board packet shall be sent at the same time it is distributed to other recipients preceding a regular scheduled Board meeting. Subject to the needs of the District, CSEA may utilize the District copy center.
- 5.6. The District will provide CSEA with an updated seniority list based upon date of hire by October 31 of each year and prior to any layoff.
- 5.7. The District shall grant release time without loss of compensation or benefits for those unit members elected per CSEA policy to attend the CSEA annual conference as delegates.
- 5.8. At the beginning of each calendar year or whenever changes occur CSEA will provide the District with a list of its then current elected chapter officers and those unit members appointed by CSEA to statewide committees. Subject to advance notice, such officers or committee members shall be released without loss of compensation to attend to CSEA business or to attend the statewide committee meeting or meetings. CSEA shall reimburse the District for all compensation, including retirement contributions, paid the employee on account of such leave(s), as stated in Education Code 88210. The District shall grant a leave of absence, without loss of compensation, to a reasonable number of unelected classified employees for the purpose of enabling an employee to attend important organizational activities authorized by CSEA. CSEA recognizes that the size of the District means that the absence of employees can impact the District's ability to function effectively and therefore agrees to take that factor into consideration in making appointments. Such consideration can include limiting the number of appointments from each department.
- 5.9. When the District requires an authorized CSEA representative to attend a meeting with the District representatives during the employee's work time then that

employee shall be released without loss of compensation for the purposes of such meeting; if such meeting is held during the employee's off duty time then the employee shall be paid for actual time spent at the meeting. An authorized CSEA representative voluntarily attending such meeting on their off duty time shall not be compensated therefore. When an authorized CSEA representative initiates holding a meeting and the meeting is during off duty time then the employee shall not be paid therefore.

- 5.10. Notices required to be sent by this Agreement or by law shall be delivered either by hand, by interoffice mail, or by first class mail to the chapter president's last known address and to the labor relations representative by e-mail, or, where email is not feasible, by first class mail.
- 5.11. No agreements between the parties, which modify this Agreement, shall be binding upon CSEA unless and until such agreement has been properly ratified by the chapter membership.
- 5.12. A copy of this Agreement and any subsequent collectively negotiated agreements shall be provided by the District to each bargaining unit member within 30 working days after ratification by both parties. The cost thereof shall be borne by the District.
- 5.13. The District shall provide CSEA notice of any newly hired employee within the first month of employment with the following employee information: full name; date of hire; classification and title; work site location(s). CSEA will maintain the privacy of the employee's information.

"Newly hired employee" includes all employees who are or have been previously employed by the District and whose current position places them in the bargaining unit represented by CSEA. For these employees, the "date of hire" is the date upon which the employee was placed in the bargaining unit.

The District shall include the CSEA membership packet in any employee onboarding packet of District materials provided to any newly hired employee. CSEA shall provide copies of the CSEA membership packet to the District for distribution.

CSEA shall be given the opportunity for up to two representatives on release time to attend District orientation meetings for new classified employee(s). Time, not to exceed 30 additional minutes, will be allotted to CSEA at the end of the orientation to meet with the new employee(s) who may remain on paid time. Time allotted to CSEA shall not be counted against the total hours allotted for Presidential Paid Release Time contained elsewhere in the collective bargaining agreement. During CSEA's orientation session, no District manager, supervisor, or non-unit employee shall be present unless requested by the unit member or CSEA. The CSEA Labor Relations Representative may attend the orientation session.

In the event the District does not schedule at least one orientation each primary term (meaning, Fall or Spring semester) for new classified employee(s), CSEA shall have the right to conduct an orientation session for unit members once per primary term that shall last no longer than thirty (30) minutes. No more than two

unit members shall be released to provide the orientation to the new classified employees. The CSEA Labor Relations Representative may attend the orientation session. The CSEA orientation session date and time shall be approved by the District to ensure it does not interfere with daily operations.

# ARTICLE 6: Organizational Security

#### 6.1. Payroll Deduction

CSEA shall have the exclusive right to payroll deduction for CSEA dues, initiation fees, agency fees and CSEA sponsored benefit programs payable to CSEA. Dues and/or fees withheld by the District shall be transmitted to CSEA at the address specified in writing by CSEA for receipt of such funds. A list of bargaining unit members for whom deductions are being made shall be forwarded to the CSEA Chapter 800 President or designee. The District shall not be obligated to put into effect any new, changed, or discontinued deduction until the pay period commencing fifteen (15) workdays or more after such submission.

Deductions for members of the bargaining unit who commence duties after the school year and therefore are not subject to deductions until after the beginning of the school year shall be prorated in such a manner that the employee will pay dues or fees only in proportion to the number of months during the academic year in which the employee is a member of CSEA or otherwise subject to the terms of the Article. Any fraction of a month shall be counted as a full month.

- 6.2. The District shall not interfere with the terms of any agreement between CSEA and the District's employee with regard to that employee's membership in CSEA, including but not limited to automatic renewal yearly unless the worker drops out during a specified window period. The District need not need keep track of this period which shall be tracked by CSEA within its membership database.
- 6.3. The District's managers, supervisors and confidential employees shall be either positive or neutral regarding employees' decisions to belong to an employee organization or participate in its activities. Managers, supervisors and confidential employees shall not instruct employees on the process to leave CSEA, but instead simply refer any questions to the CSEA Labor Relations Representative and shall obtain their approval on behalf of the union before processing any revocation request.
- 6.4. Any unit member who does not utilize the provisions of paragraph 1 above, may arrange to pay dues or service fees directly to CSEA in lieu of having such fees deducted from their salary warrant; in the event such unit member is delinquent in payment of fees, CSEA shall so notify the District in writing and request that the District initiate involuntary deductions pursuant to paragraph 8 below.

#### 6.5. Separation From Unit

The provision of the Article 6, Section 1 shall not apply during periods when an employee is in out-of-pay status for more than thirty (30) days. If an employee is subsequently compensated for time originally or previously identified as out-of-pay

status, the employee's appropriate and regular representational dues or fees for this time shall be deducted and paid to the CSEA.

#### 6.6. Changes in Dues

Any changes in dues will be submitted to the District, in writing, fifteen (15) days prior to the effective date of such changes.

#### 6.7. Forfeiture of Deductions

If the balance of an employee's wages in any one pay period, after all other involuntary and insurance premium deductions are made, is not sufficient to pay deductions required by this agreement, no such deduction shall be made for that period. However, the dues for that pay period remain due and payable by the employee, and the dues for that pay period will be deducted over the next four (4) months.

6.8. CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising from its compliance with this article for any claims made by the employee for deductions made in reliance on information provided by the employee organization to the employer to cancel or change membership dues authorization. The employer shall be required to promptly notify CSEA of any claims made by employees relating to dues authorization. CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed.

# **ARTICLE 7:** Hours of Employment and Overtime

- 7.1. Workweek: For purposes of this Agreement, a regular workweek for full-time employees shall consist of five (5) consecutive days of eight (8) hours per day and forty (40) hours per week. This Article shall not restrict the extension of the regular workday or workweek on an overtime basis. This Article in no way implies any conflict with the District's exclusive right to establish days and hours to be worked for all positions. This article shall not conflict with any laws of the state of California or the federal government regarding hours worked.
  - 7.1.1. Any potential change of an employee's workweek or shift times shall not be proposed for the purpose of avoiding payment of overtime.
  - 7.1.2. If the District establishes a workday of less than eight (8) hours but seven (7) hours or more and a workweek of less than forty (40) hours but thirty-five (35) hours or more for all its classified positions or for certain classes of classified positions, all time worked in excess of the established workday and workweek shall be deemed overtime.
- 7.2. Workday: The regularly scheduled workday for a full-time employee shall be eight (8) hours. For part-time employees, the length of the workday shall be designated by the District for each such classified assignment in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement. Each bargaining unit employee shall be assigned a fixed, regular, and ascertained minimum number of hours.

- 7.3. Overtime: Overtime shall be defined as assigned and authorized work performed during hours actually worked in excess of eight (8) in any one workday and/or forty (40) in any one workweek except as defined in section 1.3 above. No employee shall work more than twelve (12) hours per day or sixty (60) hours per week. Overtime hours shall be compensated for at the applicable rate. Overtime shall be paid at the next regular pay cycle.
  - 7.3.1. <u>Distribution of Overtime or Extra Time:</u> The parties recognize that exact equal distribution of overtime cannot be measured. When requested, the District shall post a seniority list for each classification in each department and shall rotate all assignments within the department. The District shall offer overtime or extra time first to bargaining unit employees in their same classification by seniority order, and then to bargaining unit members who are qualified for such work and then, should no bargaining unit member accept the assignment, the District may assign from the substitute list. When an employee is absent on an authorized vacation or compensatory leave, the employee shall not be offered overtime, unless the employee has provided written notification that he or she wants to be offered overtime or extra time during his or her vacation. Notification must be provided for each approved vacation request.
  - 7.3.2. For purposes of this Article only, time worked includes time during which a unit member is excused from work for holidays, sick leave, vacation, compensatory time off, or other paid leave of absence; overtime for a unit member absent from work for other reasons shall be governed exclusively by the eight (8) hour requirement.
  - 7.3.3. All hours actually assigned and worked on a holiday as designated by this Agreement, with the exception of floating holidays, shall be compensated for at the applicable overtime rate either in wages or compensatory time in addition to holiday pay for which the employee may be eligible.
  - 7.3.4. Whenever a supervisor and/or District representative knowingly suffers or permits a unit member to work overtime, such work shall be compensated for at the applicable overtime rate.
  - 7.3.5. An employee shall elect whether his or her overtime work shall be paid for in compensatory time off in lieu of cash compensation for overtime. Compensatory time off shall be taken, when possible, within thirty (30) days from the date compensatory time was earned, but in no case shall it be taken after twelve (12) months from the date it was earned. When an employee is requesting relevant leave, compensatory time will be exhausted before vacation leave is used. At the end of twelve (12) months, the unit member shall be paid for compensatory time earned but not taken. No more than 240 hours compensatory time off may be accumulated; this is equivalent to 160 overtime hours worked.
  - 7.3.6. During the summer months the District may establish a ten (10) hour per day forty (40) hour, four (4) consecutive day workweek. The condensed

summer schedule will apply to all classified employees. Employees may elect to work their normal daily amount of hours or use vacation or compensatory time to retain their full paycheck. Only employees with less than one year of vacation accrual may use leave without pay to account for a full work week. Full time (40 hour) employees must select a ten (10), nine (9) or eight (8) hour work schedule. A nine (9) hour work schedule using unpaid leave is not an option; a nine (9) hour work schedule requires the use of one hour per day of earned paid leave. All CSEA members who receive differential pay shall retain their differential pay during the duration of the summer schedule. Overtime shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of the ten (10) hour day or forty (40) hour workweek. Work performed on a fifth, sixth and/or seventh day shall be compensated for at the applicable overtime rate. For those employees who do not work the extended work day, agreements between supervisors and employees regarding daily schedules will give due consideration to District workload demands, individual employee's preference, and availability of other employees.

- 7.3.7. Outside of the summer schedule, the District may propose to establish an alternate work schedule for all or certain classes of employees or for employees within a class when, by reason of the work location and/or duties actually performed by such employees their services are not required for a workweek of five (5) consecutive days. The use of this section shall be negotiated with CSEA prior to commencement.
- 7.4. Lunch Periods: An hourly employee scheduled to work five (5) hours or more per day is required to take an unpaid lunch period (duty-free meal period) of not less than one- half (1/2) hour. An employee working seven (7) to eight (8) hours per day may be given an unpaid lunch period (duty-free meal period) of one (1) hour. An employee working more than ten (10) hours per day is required to take an additional meal period of not less than one-half (1/2) hour. Lunch periods should occur approximately at the midpoint of the shift or as close as practical, but must be provided within the first four (4) hours and fifty-nine (59) minutes of the workday. Employee supervisors and managers have the right to coordinate lunch periods to best meet the needs of the students and the department. Lunch periods cannot be combined, skipped, or saved. Lunch periods are duty-free.
  - 7.4.1. <u>Lunch Period Waiver</u>: An employee who works a shift of six (6) hours or less may voluntarily agree to waive the right to a meal period. Similarly, if an employee works a shift of twelve (12) hours or less, the employee may voluntarily agree to waive the second meal period (if the first meal period has not been waived). A valid meal period waiver must be in writing and explicitly state that the employee can revoke the waiver at any time. In addition, an employee may voluntarily agree to take a paid "on-duty" meal period (in which the employee is not relieved of all duty) if the District and CSEA determine that the nature of the employee's work prevents the employee form being relieved from all duty.
- 7.5. Rest Periods: An hourly employee scheduled to work three and one half (3.5) hours or more per day but less than six (6) hours per day, is required to take one (1) paid

fifteen minute rest period. An employee scheduled to work six (6) hours or more per day is required to take two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods. An employee scheduled to work ten (10) hours or more is required to take an additional paid fifteen (15) minute rest period. Rest periods are designed to "break up" a shift and should be taken as they are designed. Employee supervisors and managers have the right to coordinate rest periods to best meet the needs of the students and the department. Rest periods cannot be combined, skipped, or saved. District management may, under extenuating circumstances, require an employee to work through their rest break. Any employee required to work through their rest break shall be entitled to a rescheduled break as soon as practical following the originally scheduled rest period.

- 7.6. <u>Callback Pay</u>: In the event an employee is called back to work or directed to work offsite, either via phone, text, or email following completion of their regular shift, said employee shall be compensated for all additional time worked, with at a minimum of two (2) hours' paid at the applicable rate of pay.
- 7.7. <u>Minimum Call-In-Time</u>: In the event an employee is called in to work or directed to work offsite, either by text, email or phone on a day when the employee is not otherwise regularly scheduled to work, said employee shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours' pay at the applicable rate of pay.
- 7.8. <u>Callback/Call-In Mileage</u>: On a callback or call-in, the employee shall be reimbursed for mileage at the applicable District rate.
- 7.9. Emergency Closure: if the President or designee declares an emergency on a scheduled work day and the District's site(s) is/are closed, classified personnel shall receive regular pay whether or not they are required to report for duty that day. Should a classified employee's supervisor and/or other District representative require them to report to work on a day of emergency closure, the classified employee shall be compensated at one and one-half (1 ½) their normal hourly rate for all hours worked that day.
- 7.10. Flexible Work Hours: Unit members may request a change in assigned work hours or work days. The requested change is subject to the approval of the unit member's immediate supervisor and appropriate Administrator. Any requested change in hours or days worked must accommodate the intended duties and responsibilities of the unit member's position. Changes requested by the unit member under this section shall be in writing, shall include the period during which the alternate schedule is in effect, and have the required approvals prior to any changes.
- 7.11. Temporary Rescheduling: The District may request a temporary change in assigned work hours or work days. The requested change is subject to the approval of the unit member. Any requested change in hours or days worked must accommodate the intended duties and responsibilities of the unit member's position. Changes requested by the District under this section shall be in writing, shall include the period during which the alternate schedule is in effect, and be signed by the unit member. In the event the unit member does not agree, the District may offer extra assignments and/or overtime per Section 3.1 of this Article.

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
- 7.12. <u>Limited Subcontracting:</u> Notwithstanding the limitations on subcontracting per Article 21, in the event that all available qualified bargaining unit members are already utilized to work overtime and/or extra assignments, have been contacted and failed to respond timely, or have declined the assignment, then the District may contract such work to private, for-profit contractors for the duration of those particular shifts only.

# ARTICLE 8: Holidays

8.1. The Board of Trustees will annually designate the holiday schedule. Unit members shall be entitled to the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day Lincoln's Birthday President's Day Memorial Day Juneteenth Independence Day Labor Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve **Christmas Day** Winter Holiday (2 days) Floating Holiday in Lieu of Admission Day\* Spring Break Day\*\*

- 8.2. The following conditions shall apply to the Floating Holiday:
  - a. The employee shall provide their immediate supervisor with at least two (2) weeks notice prior to taking such holiday.
  - b. Employees are encouraged to, but not required to, schedule their floating holiday so as to provide themselves with at least a three (3) day weekend.
  - c. Employees are encouraged not to request the floating holiday during a traditional or scheduled peak work load period; under compelling circumstances the District can deny the request where to grant it at a particular time would substantially interfere with the District's ability to do its work; under such circumstances the employee and immediate supervisor shall mutually agree on an alternate date.
  - d. Such days are not cumulative; they must be scheduled and taken during the applicable fiscal year.

<sup>\*</sup>The parties have agreed to designate a floating holiday as the day off in lieu of Admission Day.

<sup>\*\*</sup>The parties agree to designate Spring Break Day as the Friday during Spring Break in lieu of Cesar Chavez Day.

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
- 8.3. All legal holidays are designated in accordance with Education Code Sections 79020, 79021, 88205 and 88205.5.
- 8.4. All classified bargaining unit members shall receive paid holidays during the winter break closure.
- 8.5. When a holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday. When a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday will be observed as the holiday with the exception of Lincoln's birthday which will be observed to coincide with the adopted school schedule in accordance with Education Code Section 79020. District offices will be closed on Board-approved holidays and no classes will be held on those days.
- 8.6. To qualify for holiday pay, an employee must be in paid status on the day before or the day after the holiday. Holidays are paid at the employee's regular rate of pay. Unit members required to work on any scheduled holiday will be paid compensation or given compensatory time off at a rate at least equal to time and one-half (1½) the regular rate of pay in addition to the regular pay received for the holiday.
- 8.7. Substitute Holidays: Employees who regularly work less than 40 hours or who work a regular work week other than Monday through Friday shall be entitled to holiday pay equal to the compensation that they would have received had they worked that day. When the holiday falls on a normally scheduled day off, the employee will notify the supervisor in advance and mutually agree to a substitute, alternate day within that work week. The employee shall be entitled to compensation for that substitute, alternate holiday equal to the compensation that the employee would have received had they worked that day. Holiday pay shall not be disbursed such that an employee's total work week and/or assigned work day exceeds that employee's normally scheduled work week.

#### **ARTICLE 9: Vacation**

- 9.1. Bargaining unit members may take vacation days only after securing advance approval from their immediate supervisor using the District approved vacation request form.
- 9.2. Employees should request vacation as far in advance as possible to ensure that their leave request can be accommodated. Vacation must, however, be submitted to the immediate supervisor no less than two (2) weeks in advance of the first day of requested vacation. Supervisors will notify employees within three (3) working days, after receipt of the request, if the vacation is approved or denied. If the vacation is denied due to District or Department operational needs, the Supervisor shall provide a written explanation for the denial and the unit member and supervisor will mutually agree on a vacation schedule. Requests for vacation shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 9.3. Full-time (40 hours) bargaining unit employees earn vacation leave at the rate of:

Year of employment	Vacation days per month
0 – 3 years inclusive	1.00 work days
4 – 9 years inclusive	1.25 work days
10-15 years inclusive	1.67 work days
16-20 years inclusive	1.75 work days
21 years and over	1.83 work days

9.4. Classified employees working less than forty (40) hours per week earn vacation pro- rated based on the number of hours of scheduled work per week in relation to the number of hours for a full-time employee.

## 9.5. <u>Probationary Employees</u>

- 9.5.1. Upon initial employment, probationary employees shall accrue vacation time as follows:
  - a. On the first of the month if the employee starts work on the 1st of the month or between the 1st and 15th of the month.
  - b. On the first of the following month if the employee starts work between the 16th and the end of the month.
- 9.5.2. After the first six (6) months of initial employment, the employee's vacation will become vested.
- 9.5.3. Upon completion of the probationary period, the employee's vacation will be posted to the bargaining unit member's account based on the projection for the remainder of the fiscal year.
- 9.6. Vacation leave is posted to each permanent bargaining unit member's account at the beginning of the fiscal year projecting the vacation to be earned for that fiscal year.
- 9.7. Annual vacation leave should be taken within the twelve (12) month period in which the vacation is earned. At no time may an employee have a total balance of earned vacation in excess of one and one-half (1.5) times his or her current annual accrual rate. The District may at any time, with prior notification to the employee, pay the employee for accrued but unused vacation in excess of one and one-half (1.5) times his or her annual accrual rate. Each fiscal year, the District may require employees to take five (5) days of vacation leave. The employee's supervisor will work with the employee to schedule five (5) days in a manner that will work with District operations and the employee's preference.
  - 9.7.1. Between June 1 and June 15 of each year, employees and/or the District shall be able to request that any unused vacation over one and one-half (1.5) times their annual earned accrual be paid out. It shall be paid on the next regular payroll.

- 9.7.2. Bargaining unit members may request relaxation of the vacation balance caps for special circumstances. Such requests shall be granted at the discretion of the Chief Human Resources Officer.
- 9.8. No vacation will be accrued for periods when the unit member is on an unpaid leave of absence.
  - 9.8.1. Upon return from an unpaid leave of absence, vacation will accrue as follows:
    - a. On the first of the month if the employee returns to work on the 1st of the month or between the 1st and 15th of the month.
    - b. On the first of the following month if the employee returns to work between the 16th and the end of the month.
- 9.9. Upon separation from service, an employee shall be entitled to lump-sum compensation for all earned and unused vacation, except that employees who have not completed six (6) months of employment shall not be entitled to such compensation because earned vacation does not vest during the first six (6) months of employment. Bargaining unit members who separate from the District and who have used unearned vacation hours will have that vacation leave deducted from their final check.
- 9.10. Authorized holidays occurring during the vacation period will be counted as holidays and not vacation time.
- 9.11. Permanent unit members shall be allowed to interrupt or terminate a vacation leave in order to begin another type of paid leave without return to active service, provided the unit member supplies adequate notice and relevant supporting information regarding the basis for such interruption or termination.
- 9.12. The minimum time that can be charged against vacation time is one (1) hour.

#### ARTICLE 10: Leaves

#### 10.1. General Provisions

- 10.1.1. A leave of absence is an authorization for an employee to be absent from duty for a specific period of time and for an approved purpose.
- 10.1.2. The benefits, which are expressly provided by this Article, are the sole leave benefits that are a part of this Agreement.
- 10.1.3. A condition of each leave of absence is that any required license or certificate held at the time the leave was granted, properly authorizing the service, must be maintained in full force by the employee whenever practical.

- 10.1.4. Employees on a paid leave of absence, unless otherwise provided herein, shall receive wages and health and welfare coverage and retirement credits the same as if they were not on leave.
- 10.1.5. Employees on an unpaid leave of absence may be allowed to remain on continued health, dental and vision coverage at their own expense.
- 10.1.6. Utilization of paid leave provisions under this Article for whole or partial day(s) shall be deducted from an employee's leave entitlement.
- 10.1.7. It is agreed that an employee who is absent from work other than designated holidays, vacation or other authorized leave provisions of this Agreement is taking an unauthorized absence. The District may withhold a salary amount equal to the employee's established daily rate for unauthorized absences. As an alternative to withholding salary from the employee as explained above in this paragraph, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action. (See Article 16, Discipline)
- 10.1.8. Most leaves require advance authorization; where, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, leave is not approved in advance, immediately upon return to work, the employee shall complete the appropriate District form verifying their absence and submit it to their supervisor.
- 10.1.9. If the District has reason to believe that there has been an abuse of leave privileges, the District may require the employee to verify a leave of absence.
- 10.1.10. Employees shall notify their immediate supervisor or designee as far in advance of all absences as practical; except for emergency, under no circumstances shall notice be less than thirty (30) minutes prior to the start of their shift. Employees shall indicate the reason for their absence and the intended date of return.
- 10.1.11. Notice of Return: At least five (5) working days prior to the end of any leave of thirty (30) or more calendar days, the unit member on leave must submit in writing to the Human Resources Office, notice of the unit member's intent to return to work, or a request for further leave, or a letter of resignation.
- 10.1.12. Misuse of Leave: A unit member may take a leave of absence only under the provisions specified in this section. Unauthorized leaves may result in loss of pay or disciplinary action under, Article 16, Discipline. Leaves of absence shall not be used for strikes, walkouts, or any other form of concerted action related to employment. Leaves of absence are not for the purpose of working elsewhere; unit members who accept positions in other school districts while on leave without express written approval of District administration may be deemed to have abandoned District employment and may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.

10.1.13. <u>Domestic Partner:</u> Wherever in this Article the word "spouse" is utilized it shall be interpreted and applied to include Registered Domestic Partner.

#### 10.2. Sick Leave

- 10.2.1. The purpose of sick leave utilization shall be for illness, injury, diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of or preventative care for, and employee that prevents the employee from being able to fulfill his or her work duties and responsibilities.
- 10.2.2. A unit member employed for forty (40) hours per week, twelve (12) months per year shall be granted ninety-six (96) hours of leave of absence annually for illness or injury. Every employee who works less than forty (40) hours per week and/or less than twelve (12) months per fiscal year shall have their leave earnings prorated. Unused accrued sick leave shall be carried over from year-to-year.
- 10.2.3. Each unit member, at the beginning of the unit member's work year, shall be eligible for the number of sick leave days corresponding to the number of months and hours in the unit member's assignment. However, a newly employed probationary employee shall not be eligible to take more than six (6) days until the first day of the calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the District.
- 10.2.4. A unit member may utilize sick leave for pregnancies or disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy and/or recovery.
- 10.2.5. A doctor's certificate or other proof of illness or disabling conditions may be required by the District for any illness or disabling condition in which the absence is four (4) days or more. Additionally, the District reserves the right to require verification whenever it has reason to believe that there has been an abuse of leave, misuse of leave, or a pattern of absences or excessive absences on the part of an individual employee or group of employees under this section of the Agreement. Such verification requests or requirements must be within legal limits governing privacy of medical information. Physician verification and leave request forms should be submitted to the Human Resources Office as soon as the requirement for such leave is known. Upon the first day of return to duty the employee should submit proof from their treating physician that they may return to their normal duties with or without accommodation.
- 10.2.6. Pay for illness/injury leave shall be the same as the regular pay that would have been received had the unit member served during their regularly scheduled workday provided unused illness/injury leave hours are accrued to the employee.
- 10.2.7. Unit members who have exhausted their accumulated sick leave will be entitled to differential sick leave for a period, which when combined with accumulated sick leave, shall not exceed 100 working days. When using such leave the unit member shall be compensated at the rate of fifty

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
  - percent (50%) of the unit member's regular salary. These days of differential sick leave shall be counted as of and run concurrently beginning with the first day of absence due to illness or injury.
- 10.2.8. An employee who terminates employment prior to earning sick leave taken in advance of accrual shall have the appropriate amount deducted from their final check.
- 10.2.9. Unit members may use up to one-half the amount of their annual sick leave they would accrue in any one year to attend to an illness of a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner. (See Labor Code sec. 233)
- 10.2.10. When all applicable leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted, and if the unit member is not medically able to assume the duties of the unit member's position, the unit member shall, if not placed in another position, be placed on a re-employment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months. When medically available during the thirty-nine (39) month period, they shall be employed in a vacant position in the class of their previous assignment over all other available candidates except for a re-employment list established because of lack of work or lack of funds, in which cases, they shall be listed in accordance with appropriate seniority regulations.

#### 10.3. <u>Industrial Injury or Illness Leave</u>

- 10.3.1. Unit members are responsible for immediately reporting an industrial injury or illness to the immediate supervisor or manager. Unit members shall be granted paid leave for absences caused by industrial injury or illness.
- 10.3.2. Total allowable leave shall be sixty (60) working days for any one (1) industrial accident or illness during any one (1) fiscal year. When an industrial accident or illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only those days remaining, if any, of the allowable sixty (60) working days leave. Such leave is not accumulative and, for eligible absences, shall begin on the first day of absence.
- 10.3.3. The District may require verification of the need for Industrial Injury or Illness leave in writing from a doctor or may utilize the written opinion (s) of medical experts.
- 10.3.4. During the first sixty (60) working days of verified industrial injury/illness leave, the injured unit member shall be paid their full salary.
- 10.3.5. Industrial injury/illness leave shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of compensation awarded under Workers' Compensation.
- 10.3.6. When an industrial injury/illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the unit member shall be entitled to only the amount of the unused portion of the sixty (60) days leave due for the same illness or injury.

- 10.3.7. When the sixty (60) day leave period has expired and the employee is still disabled, accumulated sick leave benefits, vacation, and compensatory time, which, when added to their temporary disability indemnity will result in payment to the employee of not more than their full salary. During such period of temporary disability as long as the employee has sick leave, vacation, or compensatory time off available for their use, the District shall require that the temporary disability check be endorsed payable to the District.
- 10.3.8. When all applicable leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted, and if the unit member is not medically able to assume the duties of the unit member's position, the unit member shall, if not placed in another position, be placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months. When medically available during the thirty-nine (39) month period, they shall be employed in a vacant position in the class of their previous assignment over all other available candidates except for a re-employment list established because of lack of work or lack of funds, in which case, they shall be listed in accordance with appropriate seniority regulations. A unit member who has been placed on a reemployment list, who has been medically released for return to duty and who fails to accept an appropriate assignment, may be terminated.
- 10.3.9. A unit member shall be deemed to have recovered from an industrial injury/illness and thereby able to return to work with reasonable accommodations at such time as the attending physician verifies there has been a recovery.
- 10.3.10. During periods of injury or illness, any unit member receiving benefits as a result of this section, shall remain within the State of California. Approval for travel outside the state must be obtained from the District. Failure to obtain such approval may result in a loss of benefits as provided in this section. Requests for travel outside the state of California shall be considered satisfied if the unit member submits such request to the Human Resources Office. In addition, unit members who, as delegates, attend CSEA's annual Conference out of the state are considered granted permission for travel outside of the state.

#### 10.4. Personal Necessity Leave

- 10.4.1. Employees may utilize up to seven (7) days of accumulated sick leave for purposes of personal necessity. Such leave is not available for purposes of extending a holiday, weekend or vacation, nor for matters of purely personal convenience nor for withholding of services from the District.
- 10.4.2. Payment of personal necessity leave shall be made only upon completion of a District payroll form stating the reason for the absence.

- 10.4.3. The reasons for which leave may be taken are listed below. Advance permission is requested but not required for leave taken under items a), b), c), d) and e) below:
  - a. Death or serious illness of a member of the immediate family.
  - b. Accident, involving the employee or their property, or the person or property of a member of the employee's immediate family. Such accident must (1) be serious in nature, (2) involve circumstances the unit member cannot reasonably disregard, and (3) require the attention of the unit member during such unit member's directed hours of service.
  - c. An appearance of the unit member in court as a litigant or as a witness under an official order, or subpoena or jury duty provided that the District is not an adverse party in the proceedings. The unit member is expected to return to work in cases where the unit member is not required to be absent the entire day.
  - d. Family emergencies.
  - e. Emergency administration of estate problems involving the employee's immediate family.
  - f. Matters of compelling personal importance.
- 10.4.4. For purposes of this clause, "immediate family" means the mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the employee or of the spouse of the employee, and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, sister of the employee or the spouse, former legal guardian of the employee or the spouse, or any relative living in the immediate household of the employee.
- 10.4.5. Subject to all the provisions herein, two (2) of the seven (7) days may be utilized for personal necessity which may not meet the specific criteria set forth in Section 4.3 a) through e) above.

#### 10.5. Bereavement Leave

- 10.5.1. Classified unit members are entitled to paid bereavement leave in the event of the death of a member of the immediate family as follows:
  - a. Up to three (3) days for death of an immediate family member; as defined in 4.4 above.
  - b. Up to five (5) days in the event of death of the unit member's spouse or dependent child;
  - c. Except for circumstances described in paragraph b), if travel of more than 200 miles one way is required to attend or arrange for the funeral, up to an additional two (2) days will be granted.
  - d. If bereavement leave in excess of the authorized amount is requested it may be charged to available personal necessity leave.

10.5.2. For purposes of this clause, "immediate family" means the mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the employee or of the spouse of the employee, and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, sister of the employee or the spouse, former legal guardian of the employee or the spouse, or any relative living in the immediate household of the employee.

#### 10.6. Jury Duty

- 10.6.1. Employees shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay for any time the employee is required to perform jury duty service.
- 10.6.2. The District shall pay the employee's regular rate of pay.
- 10.6.3. The employee shall pay the District the amount the employee receives as jury duty pay. Any meal, mileage or parking allowance provided to the employee shall not be considered as jury duty pay and the unit member may retain such payments.
- 10.6.4. A unit member called for jury duty service who was required to serve at least fifty percent (50%) or more of their regular assigned hours at jury duty that day shall contact and inform their supervisor upon release but shall not be required to report to work for the balance of the day unless there is an emergency. However, no unit member shall be required to work more than their regularly assigned hours when combined with the hours of jury duty service. The unit member will be required to summit a jury duty slip as proof of service.

#### 10.7. Court Appearance Leave

Court Appearances are as defined and covered under the Personal Necessity Leave Article except that employees subpoenaed by the District shall be released from duties without loss of compensation.

#### 10.8. Health Leave (Unpaid)

The Governing Board may, in its sole judgment and discretion, grant unpaid health leave(s) to permanent employees subject to the provisions of Education Code Section 88195.

#### 10.9. Parenthood Leave

- 10.9.1. In addition to utilizing personal necessity leave, a parent may take up to three (3) days paid leave of absence in connection with the birth of one's child.
- 10.9.2. In addition to utilizing personal necessity leave, an adoptive parent or parents may take up to three (3) days paid leave of absence in connection with the actual adoption, i.e., taking home, of their child.

- 10.9.3. A unit member may request and be granted an unpaid leave of absence up to one (1) year for purposes of childrearing in connection with a newly born, infant or adopted child. The unit member's request shall be made in writing at least ten (10) working days prior to the anticipated starting date of the parenthood leave. An additional six (6) months leave may be granted upon the unit member's request. The unit member must notify the District at least one (1) month prior to returning from leave. Such leave shall run concurrently with and be counted toward Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) to the extent the employee is eligible.
- 10.9.4. Time spent on such leave does not count toward seniority or salary advancement. During such portion of the leave that is not subject to FMLA the unit member may maintain enrollment in the District group health insurance programs by paying the full cost of the premium for such benefits. The unit member shall be returned to work in the same classification as held when the leave began, but is not necessarily entitled to be placed in the precise position held when the leave began.

#### 10.10. Military Leave

An employee shall be entitled to military leave as provided by applicable state or federal law and shall retain all rights and privileges granted by such law or laws and arising out of the exercise of military leave, including, but not limited to applicable reinstatement rights.

## 10.11. Study Leave

- 10.11.1.A permanent unit member may, subject to District approval, be granted a leave of absence without pay, not to exceed one and one-half (1.5) years for the purpose of permitting study by the unit member for the purpose of training or retraining the unit member to meet changing conditions within the District.
- 10.11.2. During such leave the unit member may maintain their enrollment in the group medical insurance at their own expense.
- 10.11.3. No leave of absence shall be granted to any unit member for study and/or training/retraining purposes who has not rendered service to the District for at least five (5) consecutive years. When a study and/or training/retraining leave has been authorized and taken, an additional five (5) years of service, after return to duty from the last leave, must be completed before another study leave may be granted.
- 10.11.4. Unit members must notify the District and apply for such leave no less than two (2) months prior to the requested start date for such leave.
- 10.11.5.Unit members must provide the District with written notice no less than thirty (30) days before the expiration date of the leave, or before May 15, whichever is earlier, of their intention to return. Failure to so notify the

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
  - District will be considered as notice that the unit member will not return, and the unit member may be subject to termination.
  - 10.11.6.Employee(s) hired to replace unit members while on such leave shall be considered substitute employees.

## 10.12. Legislative Leave

- 10.12.1. A permanent unit member who is elected to the State Legislature or Congress shall be granted, upon request, an unpaid leave of absence for the length of the term or terms in office.
- 10.12.2. Unit members on such leave shall notify the District of intended return at least six (6) weeks prior to the expiration date of the leave.

#### 10.13. Family Care and Medical Leave

10.13.1 Any bargaining unit member shall be granted leave and maintenance of health benefits (if applicable) to the extent provided in the most current version of either the federal Family Medical Leave Act of the California Family Rights Act. In situations where the laws overlap, whichever law is more beneficial to the unit member shall be applied.

#### 10.14. Catastrophic Leave Bank

- 10.14.1. The District and CSEA agree to the establishment of a Classified Unit Member Catastrophic Leave Bank (Catastrophic Leave Bank). Confidential employees may also participate in the catastrophic leave bank under the same terms and conditions.
- 10.14.2. <u>Definition of Catastrophic Leave:</u> The intent of this bank is to provide additional financial protection to unit members during a period of prolonged illness/injury or hospitalization, which, for purposes of this Article is defined as an illness or injury which incapacitates the employee or a member of their family for a minimum of sixty (60) working days and/or is, according to competent medical evidence, likely permanently to incapacitate the employee or family member or be characterized as terminal. Catastrophic Sick Leave shall not be available simply because an employee has exhausted all available paid leave.
- 10.14.3. Participation/Eligibility: Permanent classified unit members with more than five (5) days of accumulated sick leave may participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank. Unit members who elect to join the Catastrophic Leave Bank may join the bank only during open enrollment periods and must have a waiting period of thirty (30) calendar days after joining the bank before becoming eligible to withdraw from it. The Catastrophic Leave Bank shall not be available to any unit member during a paid leave of absence. New unit members upon completion of probation and unit members returning from a Board-approved extended leave of absence shall have thirty (30) calendar days from the first day of

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)

  employment to sign up for participation in the Catastrophic Leave Bank if the open enrollment period has expired.
- 10.14.4. For purposes of this Article only, "family" is defined as those enumerated in Section 4.4 of this Article.
- 10.14.5. Leave to care for a member of the family shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of this Article and shall only be granted during such periods that the Catastrophic Leave Bank is maintaining a balance of sixty (60) days or more. No more than one member of the same family may utilize Catastrophic Leave at the same time.
- 10.14.6. <u>Donation of Days:</u> A unit member may elect to participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank by donating at least one (1) day (1 day = current daily hours assigned) of their accumulated sick leave or accrued vacation to the Catastrophic Leave Bank. No member shall contribute more than eight (8) days to the Catastrophic Leave Bank in any one (1) open enrollment period. The unit member shall make this donation by filing an appropriate form with the Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee during the open enrollment period. This donation shall be irrevocable. A donation to the Catastrophic Leave Bank must be made from the unit member's accumulated sick leave and/or accrued vacation and shall not be designated to a specific unit member for their exclusive use. Only donors to the bank are eligible for withdrawals.
- 10.14.7. Administration of the Bank: A Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee shall administer the Catastrophic Leave Bank. The Committee shall consist of three (3) members, one (1) appointed by the Superintendent and two (2) appointed by CSEA. The Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee shall be responsible for receiving leave requests, verifying validity of requests, approving the full or less than full amount requested or denying requests, communicating its decision to affected unit members and the Superintendent, and soliciting donations of sick leave/vacation days from eligible unit members. Committee decisions are not reviewable through the grievance/arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- 10.14.8. <u>Mandatory Donations:</u> A unit member who has received contributions from the Catastrophic Leave Bank must, upon return to duty, commence repaying donations with a minimum of one (1) accumulated sick leave day or accrued vacation day per year until total donations equal the amount of donated leave received from the bank, minus the number of days originally donated by the unit member.
- 10.14.9. Enrollment Procedures: The District shall establish an open enrollment period each year for unit members to participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank. The enrollment period shall be July 1 through October 1. Once a unit member becomes a participant in the Catastrophic Leave Bank, they shall not be required to reenroll each year.
- 10.14.10. Procedures to use/Withdraw Sick Leave Conditions Restrictions

- 10.14.10.1. In order to be eligible to withdraw catastrophic leave from the bank, the unit member must be a participant and have exhausted all of their available and applicable accrued paid leave credits, which includes, but is not limited to, industrial injury leave, sick leave, compensatory time off, and vacation. Receipt of catastrophic leave does not delay the beginning or expiration of the period of eligibility for differential pay, nor does eligibility for differential pay affect the rate at which catastrophic leave is used.
- 10.14.10.2. A unit member electing to use the Catastrophic Leave Bank shall complete an appropriate form in order to make a draw on the bank. The unit member must submit this form to the Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee for processing. The unit member must provide, upon request from the Committee an attending physician's statement, which verifies the catastrophic illness or injury and gives an estimated date of return to work. Failure of the unit member to submit a complete application, including medical information provided by the applicant's physician, within twenty (20) calendar days, will disqualify the unit member from further Catastrophic Leave Bank benefits.
- 10.14.10.3. In the event that the unit member is personally unable to apply for catastrophic leave, an immediate family member or unit member's agent may make the request for the applicant.
- 10.14.10.4. If there are insufficient days in the Bank, there is no obligation to grant leave hereunder, in whole or in part. Neither the District, CSEA, nor Committee shall be legally responsible if there are insufficient days in the Bank to provide a Catastrophic Sick Leave donation.
- 10.14.11. Allowable Days: An initial request shall not normally exceed twenty (20) days. A unit member may request an additional twenty (20) days by filing an additional request for consideration by the Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee. The maximum number of days allowed to be utilized by one (1) unit member for a single injury/illness shall not exceed forty (40) days. The number of sick bank days needed by the unit member shall be specified in the initial request. Any days approved by the Committee but unused by the unit member shall be returned to the Catastrophic Leave Bank.
- 10.14.12. Method of Payment: When a unit member uses a day from the Catastrophic Leave Bank, pay for that day shall be at the same rate the unit member would have received had they worked their regular schedule that day. No distinction shall be made as to the differing pay rates of the donor and the recipient.

- 10.14.13. Accounting: By September 29th of each year, the Payroll Office shall provide the Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee with a statement detailing the number of days withdrawn from the Bank during the past year and the number of days available in the Bank as of the first of July of the current year.
- 10.14.14. Termination of Catastrophic Leave Bank: If the Catastrophic Leave Bank is terminated for any reason, the hours remaining in the Bank shall be equally distributed to the then-current unit members enrolled in the Catastrophic Leave Bank. In the event of a natural disaster or catastrophic event having a generalized effect, the Superintendent/President shall retain the right to suspend the provisions of this Article.
- 10.14.15. Retrieval of Donated Sick Leave/Vacation Non-Grievable: Retrieval of donated sick leave/vacation used by another unit member pursuant to the provisions of the Catastrophic Leave Bank sections of this Article shall not be subject to the grievance procedure of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. It is understood that donated sick leave/vacation is an irrevocable deposit and cannot be rescinded for any reason.
- 10.14.16. Hold Harmless: Any unit member who deposits donated sick leave/vacation into the Catastrophic Leave Bank must sign an agreement stating the unit member agrees to hold the District, CSEA and the Committee harmless for any and all claims and liabilities arising out of such deposit and/or its subsequent use. This section satisfies and supersedes any obligation of the District under California Education Code section 87045.

# ARTICLE 11: [Intentionally Blank]

#### **ARTICLE 12:** Evaluation Procedures

- 12.1. The primary purpose of evaluation shall be to assist the unit member in improving job knowledge and skills and to recognize the unit member's contribution to the District.
- 12.2. Effective July 1, 2021, the District shall provide written evaluations to all permanent unit members no less often than once every calendar year. Probationary unit members shall be evaluated upon the second and fourth months subsequent to the initial hire date. Written evaluations shall be signed and dated by the evaluator and the unit member.
  - 12.2.1. Unit members shall receive a yearly evaluation based on their initial date of hire in the District.
  - 12.2.2. Per Article 13, Section 5.1, when an outside applicant is hired by the District, they shall be subsequent to a six (6) month probationary period during which time they can be released from employment without cause.

- 12.3. The primary evaluator shall be the unit member's immediate supervisor.
- 12.4. The evaluator shall meet with the unit member to discuss the unit member's written evaluation. The unit member should sign the evaluation signifying only that the unit member has read the document. The unit member shall be provided the opportunity of attaching a written response within fifteen (15) working days, which shall become part of the permanent record. Should the evaluation contain negative factors which the unit member feels are grossly inaccurate or out of proportion to the significance of the incident, the unit member may request and receive an opportunity to meet with the unit member's supervisor and the appropriate Administrator prior to the end of the fifteen (15) day rebuttal period.
- 12.5. An improvement needed evaluation shall include specific recommendations for improvement, including objectives and timelines. Specific recommendations for improvement may also be supplied where the evaluation indicates areas which improvement is needed even if the overall evaluation is not improvement needed. The unit member shall take affirmative steps to achieve improvement in response to the evaluator's recommendations. Whenever practicable, the primary evaluator will provide permanent employees with thirty (30) calendar days notice that the evaluation may contain recommendations for improvement; this does not preclude the evaluator from including materials which arise after the thirty (30) day notice.
- 12.6. Any proposed changes in the evaluation instrument shall be jointly developed by a committee consisting of two (2) CSEA representatives appointed by the CSEA Chapter 800 President and two (2) District representatives. Until such time, the current evaluation forms shall be utilized. The joint committee shall periodically review the evaluation instrument and may, from time to time, propose to revise it as appropriate. Any changes shall be negotiated.
- 12.7. Only the evaluation procedure, not the contents of the evaluation, shall be subject to the grievance procedure.

# **ARTICLE 13:** Vacancies, Transfers, and Promotions

#### 13.1. Definitions:

<u>Transfer:</u> A lateral movement from one position to a vacant like position that has the same classification and job description.

<u>Promotion:</u> The advancement from one classification to a higher paid classification.

<u>Vacancy:</u> A new or existing position which is not currently staffed.

<u>Increase in Hours:</u> An increase in hours in the same classification shall not be deemed a transfer or promotion for the purpose of this article.

Outside Applicant: Any individual who applies for a position within the classified service who is not currently a permanent employee of the District.

<u>Qualified Applicant:</u> Employee who possesses the required education, experience, skills and ability as defined in the relevant job description.

<u>Permanent Employee:</u> For the purpose of this section a permanent employee is defined as an employee who has successfully passed their initial probationary period.

<u>Probationary Employee:</u> An employee who has not yet completed their initial probationary period.

#### 13.2. Notice

- 13.2.1. In the event of a vacancy, the District shall post an announcement of the job vacancy on the District website and send notice via e-mail to all employees.
- 13.2.2. Notice shall remain posted for a period of no less than seven (7) full working days. The District may simultaneously post for outside applicants.
- 13.2.3. Unit members on vacation who wish to be notified of vacancies shall notify the District, in writing, indicating the appropriate email address to which the job vacancy announcement should be sent. The District shall send a copy of the posting to employees who have made the appropriate written request.
- 13.2.4. Notice shall include the following: Job title, example of job duties, position description, assigned job site, the number of hours and days per week, number of months per year, starting salary, and the deadline for applications.

#### 13.3. Process for Filling Vacancies:

- 13.3.1. In filling vacant positions, the District shall first look to eligible and qualified employees on the 39 month re-hire list. Should qualified members exist on the 39 month re-hire list, they shall be notified of an opening pursuant to Article 15, Section 11 of this agreement.
- 13.3.2. Employees wishing to transfer or promote shall include a written statement of their request to transfer and/or promote with the employee's completed application by the filing deadline. This section does not apply to lateral transfers.
- 13.3.3. For the purpose of this section, probationary employees shall be considered outside applicants.
- 13.3.4. Human Resources will screen all applications from permanent employees for minimum qualifications prior to forwarding those applications to the appropriate supervisor. Lateral transfer candidates shall be considered qualified for all vacancies in their existing classification, regardless of hours.

- 13.3.5. Lateral transfer applicants shall be considered subsequent to the review of the re-hire list. The District shall offer the position to lateral candidates in order of seniority if the vacant position is within the same classification, has the same supervisor, and the employee has received an overall satisfactory rating in their last evaluation.
- 13.3.6. Should no lateral transfer applicants accept the position in writing within two days of the offer from the District, the supervisor shall interview all permanent internal candidates prior to interviewing outside candidates.
- 13.3.7. Any transfer or promotional candidate who is not selected for the position shall be given a written statement from Human Resources no later than ten (10) working days of their non-selection.
- 13.3.8. Effective July 1, 2021, permanent promoted unit members shall be subject to a three (3) month probationary period in their new position. If the unit member is successful in the new position in the higher classification, the annual review date shall be as prescribed in Article 12. If the permanent bargaining unit member is unsuccessful in the higher classification to which they were promoted, they shall be returned to their former position.
  - 13.3.8.1. Permanent unit members who are hired into a classified position with a different job title, either at the equal range or at a lower range, shall be subject to a three (3) month probationary period for their new position. If the unit member is successful in their new position, the annual review date shall be as prescribed in Article 12. If the permanent bargaining unit member is unsuccessful in the equal or lower classification they shall be returned to their former position.
- 13.3.9. For the purpose of this section only, a substitute or bargaining unit employee may be employed by the District for the duration of the promotional probationary period in the position from which the promotional candidate was promoted.
- 13.3.10. Transfers may be initiated by the District. Involuntary transfers shall not be utilized for punitive, arbitrary or capricious reasons; however, such transfers may be initiated for purposes where the District may be legally required to initiate such transfer. The District shall not transfer unit members without their consent except in those cases that are required by law.

#### 13.4. Temporary Filling of Vacant Positions

13.4.1. The District reserves the right to temporarily fill the position by hiring a substitute employee, or by temporarily reassigning a bargaining unit employee.

- 13.4.1.1. Substitute employees shall not be utilized for more than sixty (60) calendar days unless the District and CSEA agree to an extended period of time.
- 13.4.1.2. Bargaining unit members may be utilized to fill a vacancy on a temporary basis for no more than sixty (60) calendar days unless the District and CSEA agree to an extended period of time.
- 13.4.1.3. The District shall attempt, whenever possible, to offer the open position, during recruitment, as additional duty and/or overtime work to current bargaining unit employees.
- 13.4.1.4. If additional hours are given to part-time employees to temporarily fill a vacant position, accrual of additional vacation and sick leave begins on the first day of the increased hourly assignment.
- 13.4.1.5. If a promotional vacancy has been filled on an interim basis by temporary reassignment of a bargaining unit employee, and said employee is the successful candidate for the promotion, then the time spent in the interim assignment shall be credited toward the employee's promotional probationary period.

#### 13.5. New Employees

- 13.5.1. Effective July 1, 2021, when an outside applicant is hired by the District, they shall be subject to a six (6) month probationary period during which time they can be released from employment without cause.
  - 13.5.1.1. The probationary period shall commence on the first day the employee is attached to the permanent position in the District and shall end six months from that date.
  - 13.5.1.2. New employees must pass the initial probationary period before they may apply for a transfer or promotion within the District. Should the employee wish to transfer or promote while in their initial probationary period, they must apply and be considered as an outside applicant.

#### ARTICLE 14: Reclassification

- 14.1. <u>General:</u> Reclassification may occur because (1) the District determines it is appropriate, (2) CSEA determines it is appropriate or (3) in response to an employee request for reclassification.
- 14.2. <u>Warranted Reclassifications:</u> Upon review of the factors below, the Reclassification Committee may determine that the reclassification of a position may be warranted if:

a. There is a significant permanent change in the actual duties and/or the level of the responsibility of one or more job areas;

OR

b. There has been a gradual accretion of new duties over a period of time. An increase in workload does not warrant a reclassification;

OR

c. The position is under-classified (including job duties and salary in comparison with the overall classification plan in the District).

OR

- d. The job description does not accurately reflect the current responsibilities and complexities of the position.
- 14.3. <u>District Initiated:</u> The District reserves the right to propose to reclassify and change applicable job descriptions at any time throughout the year to meet the needs of the District. Any District-initiated reclassification request will be submitted to the Reclassification Committee and shall follow the same process (though not the same time restrictions) as a CSEA or employee-initiated reclassification request.
- 14.4. <u>CSEA or Employee Initiated:</u> Between February 1 and March 15, CSEA and/or an employee may submit a written request for reclassification to the Human Resources Office using the Reclassification Form (Appendix J) and supporting materials.
- 14.5. Requests: The Human Resources Office will forward a copy of the request and materials to the Reclassification Committee, the employee, and the immediate supervisor by April 15<sup>th</sup>. The Committee shall provide a copy of the completed form and supporting materials to the immediate supervisor for review. The immediate supervisor shall provide a response to the Committee within ten (10) working days. The immediate supervisor's comments are only to validate the job duties of the employee. The immediate supervisor will not be asked to support/not support the request. Following the immediate supervisor's comments, the employee shall have five (5) working days to provide a response to the Committee.

#### 14.6. Reclassification Committee

14.6.1. <u>Committee Duties:</u> A standing committee of two (2) CSEA designated appointees and two (2) District designated appointees will meet no later than April 15th and thereafter until all requests have been completed, in order to investigate the request utilizing techniques which will include: Interviewing the employee and interviewing their supervisor. The committee may also interview co-workers, review comparable duties and responsibilities at other comparable community colleges or public education districts, review applicable job descriptions, review mutually agreed compensation surveys, etc.

- 14.6.2. <u>Conflicts of Interest:</u> Any member with a "direct" conflict shall excuse themselves from the discussion and voting of that particular request. The meaning of "direct" is interpreted as follows:
  - (A) Any committee member who occupies the same classification of the employee(s) being reviewed.
  - (B) Any committee member who has the responsibility of immediate supervision of the employee(s) scheduled for review.
  - (C) Any committee member who has a personal relationship with the employee applicant (including, but not limited to, those under the nepotism policy of the District [BP 7310]).
  - (D) Any committee member who has been a party in a formal complaint or grievance by or against the applicant employee, where the applicant employee requests that the committee member be recused, and where a majority of the Committee determines that recusal is in the best interest of the Committee.
  - (E) Any committee member whose request is being reviewed by the committee.
  - (F) Other circumstances agreed to by the committee to constitute a conflict of interest by a vote of the non-conflicted members.

If any committee member is required to recuse themselves as provided herein for the specific reclassification request that created a conflict, the District and/or CSEA may provide a substitute for their respective recused member.

14.6.3. Committee members shall review and make a recommendation on each application in front of the Committee, which shall be reduced to writing, meaning marked up on the existing job description under review. Committee members shall vote on a recommendation following the interview and in consideration of all the information present. An attempt to reach consensus shall be made.

If the Committee reaches a unanimous decision in its recommendation, the Committee will render its decision to the Office of Human Resources and the CSEA Chapter President no later than June 15th. The Committee's unanimous recommendations shall not be forwarded to the District's nor CSEA's negotiating teams, but shall be subject to CSEA's Policy 610 and the approval of the Governing Board.

Where the Committee members were not in unanimous agreement on all terms, but the majority approves the request, it will proceed according to Section 7.

14.7. If the majority of the committee approves a request, although not on all terms, it will be forwarded to the District and CSEA with its recommendations. If a majority does not approve the request, it shall be considered denied by the committee.

The District and CSEA will meet and negotiate appropriate job description language and salary schedule placement within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the request from the committee. The negotiated reclassification of the position shall be subject to the approval of the Governing Board and of CSEA per Policy 610.

If the request is denied, the employee will be notified in writing by the Human Resources Office within ten (10) working days of the committee decision. An employee may submit only one such request in a two (2) year cycle.

<u>Implementation:</u> The revised job description and salary range adjustment shall be effective as specified by the committee or negotiated agreement.

14.8. The decision of the Reclassification Committee and/or the outcome of negotiations on job descriptions are not subject to the grievance procedure.

# **ARTICLE 15:** Layoff and Reemployment

- 15.1. Layoff shall occur only for a bona fide reduction or elimination of the service being performed by any department (lack of work), or a lack of funds (for example, due to the expiration of a specially funded program). The District agrees to not unilaterally transfer bargaining unit work inside or outside the unit, nor shall the District use short-term or other temporary employees to perform the work previously performed by bargaining unit employees without first meeting and negotiating with CSEA; this provision shall not apply to overlapping duties performed by unit and non-unit employees.
- 15.2. The District shall notify both the CSEA Labor Relations Representative and affected employee(s) in writing prior to any planned layoff.
  - 15.2.1. NOTICE OF LAYOFF: Notice will be no later than March 15 for layoffs effective in ensuing year per Education Code 88017. Notice to the employee shall be effective upon mailing or delivery by hand. The notice of layoff shall identify by name and classification, the employee(s) to be laid off. The notice shall inform the affected employee(s) of their bumping rights, if any and their reemployment rights. The District reserves the right to take the employee off work prior to ending the notice period so long as the District continues their wages for the applicable notice period.
  - 15.2.2. Per Education Code 88017, notwithstanding the other requirements of this code respecting layoff of permanent classified employees, when classified positions must be eliminated as a result of the expiration of a specifically funded program, the employees to be laid off shall be given written notice not less than 60 days prior to the effective date of their layoff informing them of their layoff date and their displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights.

- 15.3. The parties recognize that the decision to layoff is not within the scope of representation however, the effects of layoff are subject to bargaining.
- 15.4. A reduction in hours of an occupied and/or unoccupied position is negotiable. The District shall not request to reduce hours of an unoccupied position where there is an employee on layoff with reinstatement rights to the position unless the employee has been offered the position and rejected it within the twelve (12) months preceding the reduction of hours.
- 15.5. <u>SENIORITY:</u> For purposes of this clause seniority is defined as length of service from the date of first paid service in a probationary status within the classified service. Seniority for employees employed as of July 1, 1999 shall include immediately prior service with Desert Community College District.
- 15.6. ORDER OF LAYOFF: When a classified unit member is laid off, the order of layoff within the class shall be determined by length of service within the class. The employee who has been employed the shortest time in the class, plus higher classes, shall be laid off first. If two (2) or more employees subject to layoff have equal class seniority, the determination as to who shall be laid off will be made on the basis of the greater hire date seniority with the District. Reemployment shall be in the reverse order of layoff.
- 15.7. <u>BUMPING RIGHTS:</u> An employee to be laid off from their present classification may bump into the next equal or lower classification in which the employee has greater class seniority or, if having greater District seniority, has obtained permanent status within the classification.
- 15.8. <u>REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS:</u> Laid off persons are eligible for re-employment in the classification from which laid off for a thirty-nine (39) month period and shall be reemployed prior to new applicants. Such employees shall also have the right to apply for promotional opportunities, subject to meeting the required qualifications. Employees who accept a reduction in hours in lieu of layoff shall receive an additional twenty-four (24) months on the reemployment list.
- 15.9. NOTIFICATION OF REEMPLOYMENT OPENING: Any permanent employee who is laid off and is subsequently eligible for reemployment shall be notified in writing by the District of a vacancy in the classification from which they were laid off. Such notices shall be sent by certified mail or delivered personally by hand addressed to the employee's last known home address. Laid off employees are responsible for notifying the District of any change in address. A copy of the Notice shall be simultaneously sent to CSEA. The employee must notify the District of their intent to accept or reject reemployment within ten (10) working days following receipt of the notice. If the employee accepts, they must report to work as requested by the District, but shall not be required to report earlier than fifteen (15) days following receipt of the notice. If the employee rejects two (2) offers of make whole reemployment, or twice fails to timely respond to an offer to such, or if offer rejection and failure timely to respond total two (2), their name shall be removed from the reemployment list and shall thereby forfeit all reemployment rights. The

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
- forfeit provisions do not apply if the employee rejects an offer for fewer hours or greater hours than the position they held at the time of layoff.
- 15.10. <u>RETIREMENT IN LIEU OF LAYOFF:</u> Any classified employee eligible for retirement may elect to accept service retirement in lieu of layoff and may elect the same reemployment rights as provided for in this Article.
- 15.11. MISCELLANEOUS: Upon reinstatement off a reemployment list, all accrued unused sick leave accumulated prior to the effective date of the layoff shall be restored to the employee. Upon reinstatement off a reemployment list, the employee shall earn vacation at the same rate they were earning it at the time of the layoff.

### 15.12. EFFECTS OF LAYOFF:

- a. The employee shall receive health and welfare benefits for up to three (3) months following the effective date of the layoff, unless, during that period the employee has found work which provides health and welfare benefits.
- b. The employee shall be placed on the District substitute list and called for substitute service before others.
- c. The District shall offer employees on layoff, in order of seniority, vacancies for which they qualify before considering outside applicants.

### **ARTICLE 16:** Discipline

- 16.1. The District and CSEA endorse the concept of progressive discipline where appropriate; this does not mean that the District must always begin with the least serious form of discipline, rather that the discipline shall be based on the particular circumstances. Discipline is herein defined as termination, suspension without pay, reduction in pay (any such reduction in pay shall be temporary unless in connection with a demotion), involuntary demotion or written reprimand. Forms of discipline short of dismissal in no way limits the District's authority to dismiss an employee, under the provisions of this article, for serious offenses, which cannot be condoned. Counseling and/or oral warnings are not considered disciplinary for purposes of this Article; however, they may be referred to for purposes of determining appropriate level of discipline.
- 16.2. This Article applies only to unit members with permanent status; the District reserves all its rights to discipline or dismiss probationary employees.
- 16.3. Layoffs, reduction in assigned time in lieu of layoff, voluntary demotions and bumping are not considered "Discipline."
- 16.4. Causes for disciplinary action shall include, but not be limited to the following:
  - a. Dereliction of duty or failure to perform the assigned duties in a satisfactory manner (as defined in the classified evaluation form, see appendix C).

- b. Stealing, sabotage, willful damage, abuse, or willful destruction of District property, tools, or equipment, or the property or equipment of supplier, customer, or another employee, or willful failure to report any of the above.
- c. Removal of District property or the property of others without proper authorization.
- d. Insubordination or willful and persistent violation of the provisions of the District policies and/or the Education Code.
- e. Conviction of any felony, and/or misdemeanor which is specifically covered in California Education Code, work related dishonesty, or fraud in obtaining employment with this District.
- f. Unauthorized use, possession, conveyance, or storage of any firearms, explosives, or other dangerous weapons while on District property, on duty and/or representing the District.
- g. Use, possession, sale, or being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs during assigned work hours or while on District property, or reporting to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
- h. Use of abusive or threatening language and/or bullying toward fellow employees, supervisors, students or community members.
- i. Fighting, coercing, or threatening bodily injury to employees, supervisors, students or community members while on District property, on duty and/or representing the District.
- j. Sleeping during assigned work hours.
- k. Any act which endangers the health, safety, or the life of an employee or others.
- Misuse or abuse of leaves of absence, including but not limited to, pattern and/or frequency of usage, or absences that are not due to reason(s) for which such leave is authorized.
- m. Unsafe operation of or tampering with the safety device of any motor vehicle or machinery on District property or while in the District service.
- n. Smoking on District grounds or property and/or while operating District vehicles or equipment. Smoking in designated smoking areas excepted.
- o. Signing another person's time sheet or falsifying one's own time sheet or that of another employee.
- p. Suspension, revocation, or expiration of any license that is required for the employee's performance of job duties.
- q. Political activity during the assigned working time.
- r. Persistent discourteous treatment of the public or of District employees.
- s. Conviction of a sex or narcotics offense as defined in Education Code 87010 and 87011.
- t. Absence without leave which may include any combination of, or all of the following:

- 1. Excessive tardiness and/or other failure(s) to report to the assigned place of work at the assigned time;
- 2. Inexcusable and unauthorized absence from the District;
- Inexcusable and unauthorized absence from the District with the intent to avoid lawful special assignments; and/or
- 4. Inexcusable and unauthorized absence from the District with the intent to abandon position.
- 5. For the purposes of this section, it shall be rebuttably presumed that any unit member absent without leave for a period in excess of five (5) days shall have intended to abandon the unit member's position.
- 16.5. <u>Immediate Discipline:</u> Employees may be immediately relieved from duty with pay when, through their own action, they have created situations wherein they may not reasonably be expected to perform competently, or where their continued presence poses a threat to their own health or safety and/or the health and/or safety of others.
- 16.6. <u>Notification:</u> The discipline policy will normally apply in all cases of dismissal, demotion, reduction in pay or suspension without pay. Unit members shall receive written notification of District intention to suspend without pay or dismiss prior to such District action in all cases other than those situations set forth under Immediate Discipline above. In cases of Immediate Discipline the notification procedures shall be implemented as soon as practicable.
- 16.7. <a href="Procedure:">Procedure:</a> With the notice of intent to recommend suspension, demotion, pay reduction or dismissal, the unit member shall receive written notification of the effective date of the intended action, a written statement of the specific acts and/or omissions upon which the disciplinary action is based, the date by which the unit member may respond, in a conference or in writing, and copies of all documents and other materials which support the proposed action. If the unit member requests a conference in order to respond, the unit member has the right to request Union representation at such conference.
  - 16.7.1. Following the unit member's response, if any, a determination will be made by the District as to the appropriate disciplinary action, if any.
  - 16.7.2. If the District determines action should be taken, the unit member shall receive, in person or by certified mail, written notification of this determination accompanied by written notification of the effective date of the action, a statement of the specific acts and/or omissions upon which the disciplinary action is based, copies of all documents and other materials which support the action, and a statement advising the unit member of the unit member's right to a hearing wherein the unit member shall have the right either to self- representation or to representation by a conferee or legal counsel.
  - 16.7.3. The unit member shall have ten (10) workdays following the receipt of the notice to request a hearing. If the unit member desires a hearing, the unit

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
  - member must sign a written request for such within the ten (10) day period following the receipt of the notice.
- 16.7.4. The discipline shall not be implemented until the final determination from the hearing has been rendered.
- 16.8. <u>Hearing:</u> All disciplinary hearings shall be held before a hearing officer mutually selected by the parties of this Agreement. If mutual selection attempts prove unsuccessful, the parties shall request the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) to provide a list of seven (7) arbitrators from which the parties shall strike alternately until one (1) name remains, with the first strike determined by the flip of a coin. The remaining name shall be the hearing officer. The cost of the hearing officer shall be borne by the District. The hearing procedures shall be in conformance with law. Upon completion of the hearing, the hearing officer's findings and recommendations shall be provided to the Board of Trustees, who will make the final decision in the case.
- 16.9. <u>Right to Representation:</u> Any time a unit member is to be disciplined or to be interviewed concerning a matter which the employee has reason to believe may lead to their discipline; they have the right to representation. It is the employee's responsibility to request this representation.

#### **ARTICLE 17:** Grievance Procedure

- 17.1. <u>DEFINITIONS:</u> A grievance is an allegation by a unit member or members or by CSEA that the unit member(s) or CSEA has/have been adversely affected by a violation, misapplication or misinterpretation of specific written provision(s) of this Agreement. Other matters for which a specific method of review is provided elsewhere in this Agreement, by law, by Rules and Regulations of the Board or by Administrative Regulations are not subject to this procedure.
- 17.2. A "Day" is in one in which the District is normally open for business. The "Immediate Supervisor" is the lowest level supervisor or management employee having immediate jurisdiction over the grievant.
- 17.3. The time limits contained herein are considered maximum time limits; however, time limits may be extended by mutual written agreement. In the event the grievant fails to meet a time limit, such failure shall constitute a waiver of the grievance. In the event the District fails to meet a time limit, such failure shall allow the grievant to proceed to the next level of the grievance procedure.

#### 17.4. GRIEVANCE STEPS:

17.4.1. <u>INFORMAL STEP:</u> Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall attempt to resolve the grievance through an informal meeting with the grievant's immediate supervisor. Such meeting, as well as actual formal filing of a written grievance, in the event the conference does not resolve the problem, must take place within the applicable time limits.

- 17.4.2. <u>STEP 1:</u> No later than fifteen (15) days following the act or omission giving rise to the grievance, or, no later than fifteen (15) days following the date upon which the employee or CSEA reasonably should have known of the act or omission, the grievant must present such grievance in writing on an appropriate form to the immediate supervisor.
  - 17.4.2.1. The written grievance shall contain a clear, concise statement of the grievance, the date of the grievance, the specific provision(s) of the Agreement allegedly involved and the specific remedy sought.
  - 17.4.2.2. The immediate supervisor shall communicate a written decision to the employee within fifteen (15) days after receiving the grievance. Within the above time limits either party may request a personal conference with the other party.
- 17.4.3. <u>STEP 2:</u> If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Step 1, the grievant may appeal the decision on the appropriate form to the Chief Human Resources Officer within fifteen (15) days. The Chief Human Resources Officer shall communicate a decision within fifteen (15) days after receiving the grievance. Either party may request a conference with the other within the above time limits.
- 17.4.4. <u>STEP 3:</u> If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Step 2 the grievant may appeal the decision on the appropriate form to the President/Superintendent within fifteen (15) days. The President/Superintendent shall communicate a decision within fifteen (15) days of receiving the grievance.
- 17.4.5. <a href="STEP 4">STEP 4</a>: (OPTIONAL) if both parties concur they may contact a mediator through the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB). The function of the mediator shall be to assist the parties to achieve a mutually satisfactory resolution of the grievance. The mediator shall hold a conference where the parties will state their respective positions. The grievant or CSEA shall prepare a clear written statement of the reasons for the appeal. Settlement offers made in the mediation process shall not be referred to in subsequent arbitration proceedings. If a satisfactory resolution of the grievance is achieved by means of this mediation process, both parties to the grievance shall sign a written settlement agreement to that effect and should the settlement agreement be approved by both parties, CSEA shall withdraw the grievance.
- 17.4.6. <u>STEP 5:</u> If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at the previous step the grievant may, within fifteen (15) days following conclusion of the preceding step, request in writing that CSEA submit the grievance to binding arbitration. A copy of such request shall be simultaneously served upon the Chief Human Resources Officer. Within fifteen (15) days after receipt of such request from the grievant, CSEA, by written notice to the Chief Human Resources Officer, may elect to submit the grievance to binding arbitration.

- 17.5. In the event the parties are unable to mutually agree upon an arbitrator, they shall request a panel of seven (7) names be submitted to both parties by the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB). Upon receipt of the list of names, the parties shall alternately delete from the list until one (1) remains, and said last named shall be selected as the arbitrator. First strike to be determined by a flip of a coin.
- 17.6. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto, and shall be in writing and shall set forth the arbitrator's findings of fact, reasoning, conclusions and remedy. The decision of the arbitrator shall be based solely upon the evidence and arguments presented to them by the respective parties in the presence of each other, as well as arguments contained in briefs, if any, submitted by the parties. No finding shall have retroactive effect beyond the period of fifteen (15) days preceding the filing of the grievance. The arbitrator's authority shall be limited to deciding the issues submitted by the parties, and the arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, alter, delete, amend, or modify the terms of this Agreement or the written policies, rules, regulations and procedures of the District.
- 17.7. All costs for the services of the arbitrator, including, but not limited to, per diem expenses, travel and subsistence expenses and the cost of any hearing room will be borne equally by the District and CSEA. All other costs, including the cost of preparing a transcript of the hearing, will be borne by the party incurring them.
- 17.8. The parties agree that to the extent permitted by law the grievance/arbitration provisions of this Agreement are the exclusive means for resolving disputes arising under this contract; accordingly, the parties further agree that the processing of a grievance to Step 3 means that the parties will not simultaneously pursue any other legal (court) or administrative (agencies) remedies, unless such proceedings are specifically permitted by applicable law.

### 17.9. MISCELLANEOUS:

- 17.9.1. CSEA will receive time off from duties for the processing of grievances hereunder for unit members who are designated as CSEA representatives, subject to the following conditions:
  - a. CSEA shall designate in writing the names of one job representative (steward) and one alternate who are to receive the time off; changes shall be given in writing as they occur;
  - b. Twenty four (24) hours prior to release from duties for grievance processing, the designated representative must inform the immediate supervisor in order that substitute service, if any may be obtained;
  - c. That time off shall be limited to two (2) designees representing a grievant, and the grievant, in a conference with a management person; or at a mediation session, if any, or at an arbitration hearing, if any.
  - d. Under no circumstances shall this time off provided in this section include use of time for matters such as investigating grievances,

- gathering information, interviewing witnesses, or preparing a presentation;
- e. CSEA witnesses will be provided release time for appearing to testify at a hearing subject to the following conditions: CSEA will make every reasonable effort to call only necessary witnesses. CSEA and District will cooperate in making every reasonable effort to stagger the calling of witnesses so as to avoid one or more witnesses waiting to testify while another witness is testifying. Witnesses called by CSEA will only be entitled to reasonable release time for periods of time they are waiting to testify where such waiting time could not reasonably be avoided. No compensation is payable for time spent at an arbitration proceeding outside of the employee's regularly scheduled working hours.
- 17.9.2. If a grievance arises from action or inaction above the level of the grievant's immediate supervisor, the grievant, subject to the applicable time limits, may submit the grievance in writing to the Chief Human Resources Officer at the applicable step.
- 17.9.3. The arbitrator's decision shall be submitted to CSEA and District for implementation.
- 17.9.4. The operation of the Arbitration provisions of this Article shall be deemed to have been suspended and shall not apply to any grievances which arise after the expiration date or any agreed upon extension thereof. The only exception is for grievances arising prior to the expiration date or any extension thereof.

### **ARTICLE 18:** Compensation and Benefits

- 18.1. All salary schedule steps shall be in increments of 5.3%. The adjustment shall begin at the Step A Level on the salary schedule; each step on the salary schedule shall reflect a 5.3% increase from the previous step.
  - 18.1.1. For the 2022-2023 fiscal year, the Classified Salary Schedule will be increased by 6.0%. Such increase shall be effective July 1, 2022. In addition, a 3% off-schedule payment will be paid out after the close of the same fiscal year, based on each unit member's base salary rate on July 1, 2022 (adjusted per this agreement) to include all "flexed up" hours for the 2022-23 fiscal year. Off schedule pay shall not include overtime or out of class compensation.
  - 18.1.2. For the 2023-2024 fiscal year, the Classified Salary Schedule will be increased by 2.75%. Such increase shall be effective July 1, 2023. The parties further agree to an automatic mutual reopener on Article 18 if the Cost of Living Allowance ("COLA") funded by the State (meaning, COLA received by the District, subject to the final Revenue Deficit Percentage) exceeds 3.75%.

- 18.1.3. For the 2024-2025 fiscal year, the Classified Salary Schedule will be increased by 2.75%. Such increase shall be effective July 1, 2024. The parties further agree to an automatic mutual reopener on Article 18 if the Cost of Living Allowance ("COLA") funded by the State (meaning, COLA received by the District, subject to the final Revenue Deficit Percentage) exceeds 3.75%.
- 18.2. Step advancement for all permanent classified employees shall be implemented on the first day of July each year. Step advancement for probationary employees hired on or before March 31 shall be implemented the first day of July that same year.
- 18.3. Each unit member who has been continuously in the service of the District for ten full years or more, commencing from the anniversary of their first day of service as a classified employee, shall be eligible for a longevity increment in accordance with the following scale effective July 1, 2022:
  - 10 full years or more \$250 per month
  - 15 full years or more \$350 per month
  - 20 full years or more \$450 per month
- 18.4. Retroactivity shall apply only to employees on the payroll as of the date of reaching a complete agreement.
- 18.5. Rate of Pay: The hourly rate shall be computed equitably for full time and part time unit members, according to the respective salary range, step and work year.
- 18.6. Pay Period: Full-time monthly unit members shall receive their pay on or about the last working day of each calendar month. The pay received shall be for the immediate preceding calendar month. Part-time employees shall receive their pay on or about the 9th of the month. The pay received shall be for the immediate preceding calendar month.
- 18.7. Minimum Call Back Time: In the event an employee is called back to work or directed to work offsite either by text, email or phone, following completion of their regular shift, said employee shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours' pay at the applicable rate of pay.
- 18.8. <u>Errors</u>: Errors in the calculation, reporting or payment of a classified employee's salary must be corrected and repaid, from any available funds, within five (5) days following verification of the error.
- 18.9. <u>Placement in Class and Definition:</u> Every bargaining unit position shall be placed in a class, and each class assigned a salary range. The assignment of the salary range to a class shall be known as 'salary classification'.
- 18.10. <u>Pay for Work Out of Classification:</u> Wherever in this Article a provision is made for premium pay or differential pay or out-of-class pay, such work must be authorized and approved by the Human Resources Office.

- 18.10.1. <u>Higher Classification:</u> Any bargaining unit member temporarily directed to work out of class performing the duties of a higher bargaining unit position in excess of five (5) working days within fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days shall be paid at their step in the range applicable to the higher classification retroactive to the first day of such assignment.
- 18.10.2. <u>Performing Management Duties:</u> Any bargaining unit member temporarily directed to perform the duties of a manager/supervisor position in excess of five (5) working days out of fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days shall be paid fifteen percent (15%) over their regular rate of pay retroactive to the first day of such assignment.
- 18.10.3. <u>Lower Classification:</u> Any bargaining unit member temporarily directed to work in a lower classification shall be paid at their regular rate of pay.
- 18.10.4. Out of class assignments are voluntary on the part of the unit member. No unit member shall be required to work out of class.

#### 18.11. Shift Differential:

- 18.11.1. Night Shift: A shift differential of four percent (4%) shall be paid to unit employees where fifty percent (50%) or more of their regularly assigned shift commences after 4:00 p.m. and prior to 8:00 a.m. for all hours worked. Employees who receive a shift differential premium will not lose such differential premium when assigned temporarily to a different shift for a period of less than twenty-two (22) working days or for the District's convenience.
- 18.11.2. Split Shift: Bargaining unit employees regularly assigned to work a split shift will receive a four percent (4%) differential for all hours worked. For purposes of this section a split shift occurs when two (2) hours or more of a break is scheduled between portions of the daily work schedule. Employees whose assignment consists of working only certain days of the week or days of the month on a split shift will receive differential pay for the specific days of the assigned split shift.
- 18.12. <u>Bilingual Premium:</u> Unit members who accept assignments to provide bilingual services to students will receive \$120 per month during such assignments. The District shall offer bilingual premium opportunities on an Academic Year basis, by seniority order, to bargaining unit members who are qualified for such work. Unit members may apply for such eligibility by notifying Human Resources in writing of their interest in qualifying for bilingual assignments. Qualification for the bilingual assignment shall be determined by the District.

Unit members who accept assignments to provide bilingual services may cease to provide services with 2 weeks' notification to Human Resources and their supervisor.

- 18.13. <u>Uniforms:</u> If required by the District, the District shall purchase uniforms to be worn by bargaining unit employees. The District will periodically provide the necessary replacements.
- 18.14. Mileage: Unit employees authorized and required to use their own vehicle on District business shall be reimbursed for mileage at the then current IRS rate. The mileage computation shall include mileage necessary to return to the employee's normal job site after completing District business. Mileage is not paid for routine home-to-work-to- home transportation with the exception of employee call back situation in excess of two (2) hours. It is the employee's responsibility to submit the mileage reimbursement form within thirty (30) days of the call back.
- 18.15. <u>Meals and Lodging:</u> Reimbursement shall be pursuant to current Board Policy and subject to receipts and/or invoices. Whenever possible the District shall provide funds in advance.
- 18.16. Parking: Unit members shall be provided parking on campus without charge.

### ARTICLE 19: Health and Welfare Benefits

19.1. The District shall contribute for medical, dental and vision for all unit members who work 30 hours per week and above:

After the monthly premiums reach:

Single - \$820 per month Two Party - \$1,320 per month Family - \$1,770 per month

For unit members enrolling in the HMO plans, the unit member shall pay the difference up to:

Single: \$75 per month
Two Party: \$150 per month
Family: \$200 per month.

The medical plans offered to unit members shall be the UHC 90/10 HMO, the UHC 80/20 HMO, the Alliance HMO 10, and the Kaiser plan offered through VEBA. The "Bronze" plan from VEBA is not available to unit members.

19.2. Unit members are eligible for the medical, dental, and vision contributions based upon their regularly weekly assignment of hours as follows:

30-40 hours 100% 20-29 hours 50% 19 hours or below 0%

- 19.3. District Health Insurance programs include:
  - 1) Dental Coverage
  - 2) Vision Care Coverage
  - 3) Medical Benefits

- 19.4. 403(b) Tax sheltered annuity—The District agrees to match member contributions up \$2,000 per fiscal year through a District approved carrier. (A list of approved carriers shall be provided to all classified employees annually on/or before January 2nd or when a new carrier is added or a carrier is dropped.
- 19.5. The District shall fully contribute the premium for a \$20,000 life insurance policy (includes Accidental Death and Dismemberment, policy amount adjusted for age) through Nationwide for all unit members.
- 19.6. CSEA shall have the right to appoint two (2) members to the District's Health and Welfare Benefits Committee. The Committee shall convene no later than six (6) weeks after the fall semester begins to research benefits and carrier options and alternatives.
- 19.7. Coverage during leaves of absence: The District will maintain the agreed upon premium contributions while an employee is out on a District paid and authorized leave of absence.
- 19.8. District will offer enrollment in its medical, dental and vision plans to bargaining unit members retiring on or after the effective date of this Agreement on the following basis:
  - a. Bargaining unit members who have served as full-time District employees for at least ten (10) years immediately preceding retirement from the District and who retire between the ages of 61 and 65 the District shall pay for such benefits until the retiree reaches age 65 or is eligible for Medicare, whichever comes first; coverage shall include the bargaining unit member's eligible dependents; District contributions shall be at the same amount it pays for its active bargaining unit members. Upon reaching age 65, or Medicare eligibility, the retiree may continue benefits at their own expense.
  - b. Eligibility is based upon retirement through the CalPERS retirement program.
  - c. Service eligibility for employees employed as of July 1, 1999 shall include immediate prior service with Desert Community College District.
  - d. The surviving spouse of a bargaining unit member receiving benefits under the above provisions may purchase the medical, dental and vision coverage offered to active employees at the individual's expense; provided he or she was an eligible and covered dependent at the time of the spouse's death.
  - e. Bargaining unit members who retire on or after the effective date of this Agreement but who are not eligible for District paid benefits, may purchase continued coverage under the District's medical, dental and vision plans at their own expense.
  - f. A retired employee or surviving spouse may enroll in the District's health and welfare benefit plans only once, pursuant to this Article. A retired employee or surviving spouse who voluntarily terminates coverage under this policy may be excluded from obtaining coverage again.
  - g. The surviving spouse of an employee who retires on or after the effective date of this Agreement, but was not eligible for District paid benefits, or the surviving

spouse of an employee who dies while still employed, may enroll in the District sponsored medical, dental and health vision plans at their own expense provided the spouse was a covered eligible dependent at the time of the employee's retirement or death.

19.9. The District shall pay the district portion of enrollment costs and fees for classified employees to take CMCCD's community education courses while employed for the District. Ed2Go courses are exempt from this section.

#### ARTICLE 20: Professional Growth

- 20.1. As part of an effort to encourage unit members to seek to improve their personal knowledge and skills, an amount not to exceed \$10,000 shall be set aside each fiscal year for payments to qualified unit members for reimbursement under provisions of this Article.
- 20.2. A maximum of \$800 per year shall be granted to eligible, qualified employees to be used for reimbursement for verified costs of tuition, fees, books, and supplies for approved credited courses at Copper Mountain College, any other accredited college or university, or approved workshops from a recognized education vendor that relate to the employee's position or leads to an improvement of skills related to the unit member's present position.
  - 20.2.1. Tuition for eligible unit members who register for approved credited courses at Copper Mountain College shall be waived. The amount of the tuition waiver will be included in the \$800 annual total.
- 20.3. To qualify for reimbursement of educational expenses, a unit member must be employed in a regular classification and:
  - a. Receive approval of the Professional Growth Committee for planned courses or workshops from a recognized education vendor that relate to the employees position or leads to an improvement of skills related to the unit member's present position or which prepares the unit member for advancement to a position with the District, or prepares the unit member for a new career;
  - b. Enroll in a class which is part of the approved plan;
  - c. Submit a transcript from the institution attended evidencing completion of the class with a grade of "C" or better, or the equivalent;
  - d. Submit documented proof of expenses related to the completed class to the Human Resources Office for reimbursement. Documentation must include other funding received for the requested educational courses. The committee shall consider these funds when verifying applicable costs.
- 20.4. Unit members choosing to enroll in courses offered at Copper Mountain College may rearrange their work schedules to attend those classes under the following conditions:
  - a. Prior to enrolling in the class, secure written permission from the immediate supervisor and Human Resources to rearrange work hours in order to be

- Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023)
  - released during the time which classes meet, and to make up those hours within the same week in order not to exceed an eight (8) hour work day;
- b. Make application to the Committee to enroll in the class;
- c. Confirm enrollment and attendance in the class with the immediate supervisor.
- 20.5. There shall be no limit to the number of units which an employee may take during a given semester or year as long as they fit within the above guidelines.
- 20.6. A Professional Growth Committee shall be appointed consisting of three (3) unit members appointed by CSEA, and two (2) supervisors, classified or faculty employees appointed by the District Superintendent/President or designee and the Chief Human Resources Officer. The Chief Human Resources Officer will have a non-voting role, but will have the ability to vote in the event of a tied vote.
  - 20.6.1. The three (3) unit members shall be appointed by CSEA using a process CSEA determines.
  - 20.6.2. The two (2) supervisors, classified or faculty employees shall be appointed by the District Superintendent/President or designee.
  - 20.6.3. The committee shall develop and maintain a process for application by unit members for consideration under the provisions of the Article.
  - 20.6.4. The Committee shall develop and maintain necessary forms, time lines, and notification process to ensure that all eligible unit members are made aware of the opportunity to apply for consideration each semester or quarter.
  - 20.6.5. The Committee shall be responsible for review of all applications for reimbursement under the Article, and to make recommendations for such reimbursement.
  - 20.6.6. The Committee shall review the process developed under 6.4 and recommend revisions in forms or process as necessary.
- 20.7. Annually the District and CSEA shall meet and negotiate if necessary in connection with determining whether then current District finances enable full funding of the cap in Section 1.
- 20.8. Unit members shall participate in the District All-Staff meetings. In addition, the District shall schedule sixteen (16) hours per fiscal year to provide Professional Development training sessions for all classified unit members. Classified in-service training may be provided on different days for different departments in order to ensure equal access to professional development for all unit members. Employee attendance at professional development trainings will be scheduled with their supervisor. Whenever possible, training will be scheduled so that departments will remain open and services to students continue to be provided.

### **ARTICLE 21:** Subcontracting

- 21.1. The parties recognize and accept the District's need to contract for certain services.
- 21.2. While this Agreement is in effect the District shall not subcontract bargaining unit work normally and customarily performed by unit members. The District shall not contract work where such contract would cause the layoff and/or reduction in hours of then current bargaining unit employees and/or positions.
- 21.3. Absent an emergency the District will notify the Chapter Executive Board and the Labor Relations Representative of anticipated contracting decisions affecting unit work. Upon notification, if the Chapter Executive Board and the Labor Relations Representative consider the subcontracting is work normally and customarily performed by unit members, the District and CSEA may meet to discuss the concerns.

### ARTICLE 22: Release Time

- 22.1. The District shall grant release time without loss of compensation or benefits for unit members to attend the CSEA annual conference as delegates.
- 22.2. When the District requests an authorized CSEA representative to attend a meeting with the District representatives during the employee's work time then that employee shall be released without loss of compensation for the purposes of such meeting; if such meeting is held during the employee's off duty time then the employee shall be paid for actual time spent at the meeting. An authorized CSEA representative voluntarily attending such meeting on their off duty time shall not be compensated. When an authorized CSEA representative initiates holding a meeting and the meeting is during off duty time then the employee shall not be paid.
- 22.3. CSEA negotiations team members shall be allowed up to one hour for pre- and one hour for post-negotiations meetings among themselves and/or with the CSEA Labor Relations Representative on each day of scheduled negotiations when the pre- and post-negotiations meetings are within the negotiations team members' work schedule. When the Human Resources Department is informed within 72 hours, the Human Resources Department shall notify immediate supervisors of CSEA negotiations team members at least 48 hours in the advance of the negotiation schedule, including the pre- and post-meetings. If the Human Resources Department is not informed of the CSEA team composition 72 hours prior to a negotiations date, the CSEA team members shall notify their immediate supervisors at least 48 hours in advance.
- 22.4. The CSEA Chapter President shall be granted two hundred and fifty (250) hours of paid release time per fiscal year to be used for CSEA business. The Chapter President shall designate bargaining unit members other than the President to use portions of this allocation as needed. A Request for Release Time form (Appendix K) must be submitted to the Chapter President (or designee's) supervisor at least three (3) working days in advance prior to such release. Approval of such release

time shall be presumed unless denied in writing by the supervisor. Approval shall not be unreasonably denied. In the event that the employee's absence would create a hardship for the District, the supervisor may deny the request. Any paid hours beyond the two hundred and fifty (250) hours require prior approval from the Chief Human Resources Officer.

- 22.4.1. The President or their designee shall provide a monthly schedule of planned release time to the affected supervisors and the Human Resources Department prior to the beginning of each month.
- 22.4.2. In the event of an unplanned request for release time, CSEA officers/appointee(s) shall notify their immediate supervisor(s) at least 48 hours in advance and may be released from their duties through prior arrangement with their immediate supervisor.
- 22.5. The CSEA President or their designee shall be granted release time to attend all District Board of Trustees meetings.
- 22.6. The District agrees to grant release time to the CSEA President or their designee to perform services directly related to the processing of grievances. The word "processing" means to investigate, prepare, present, and to attend all meetings regarding the grievance with the aggrieved employee. The CSEA President or their designee shall not leave their work location for grievance processing purposes without prior notification to their supervisor. The CSEA President or their designee shall notify their immediate supervisor at least 48 (forty-eight) hours in advance when feasible. All release time for grievance processing is separate from any other available release time.
- 22.7. Membership in the Classified Senate remains open to any otherwise eligible classified employee. However, CSEA may appoint one (1) employee as its official representative to the Classified Senate to act as liaison between CSEA and Senate. Such employee shall be entitled to up to one (1) hour per month of release time to attend Classified Senate meetings in the event one is scheduled during the employee's regularly scheduled work time.
- 22.8. All release time shall be reported on the classified personnel's timesheet.

### ARTICLE 23: Safety

- 23.1. The District shall make every reasonable effort to provide for a safe and healthy working environment for its employees during the hours of employment and shall promptly review conditions brought to its attention, and if appropriate, refer to the Safety Committee for review and recommendations.
- 23.2. The District shall maintain a Safety Committee comprised of two (2) members appointed by the District and two (2) members appointed by CSEA (other bargaining units may have up to two (2) representatives as well). The Committee shall meet six times each fiscal year to review safety, health and sanitation conditions. The Committee shall make recommendations concerning such conditions.

- 23.3. No employee shall be discriminated against for bringing legitimate safety concerns to the Committee's and/or District's attention, nor shall there be any reprisals against such employee.
- 23.4. Employees shall comply with the District's reasonable rules, regulations and directives designed to provide a safe and healthy workplace. The District shall establish/maintain written emergency procedures and/or comprehensive safety plans, copies of same shall be distributed to employees. Whenever the District directs the wear and/or use of safety equipment or devices, the District shall be responsible for providing such equipment and devices.
- 23.5. The District shall provide annual in-service training to unit members on matters of health and safety, including, at minimum, fire safety, active shooter, and the handling of hazardous materials as applicable. Unless otherwise indicated, unit members' attendance is required.

### **ARTICLE 24:** Personnel Files

- 24.1. Unit member personnel files shall be maintained at the District's Human Resources Office. All personnel files shall contain copies of all evaluations. Unit members shall have the right to place any training certificates or awards in their personnel files by submitting a copy to Human Resources. Effective July 1, 2010, personnel files shall contain copies of unit member's current and subsequent job description(s).
- 24.2. Unit members shall receive copies of all derogatory material placed in their personnel file and shall be given an opportunity of reviewing the material and submitting a written response to such derogatory material within ten (10) working days of receipt prior to placement in the personnel file. The District shall be responsible for attaching the response to the derogatory material and placing both in the personnel file. Such derogatory material placed in the personnel file shall be signed and dated.
- 24.3. The employee shall notify Human Resources in advance of their desire to review the material; the review shall take place during normal business hours, and the employee shall be released from duty for this purpose without reduction in pay.
- 24.4. The unit member or their designee(s) shall have access to the personnel file during regular business hours of the District. The unit member or their designee may review the personnel file at that time. The unit member shall not have the right to inspect the file at a time when the employee is actually required to render services to the District. The unit member or their designee may receive copies of any documents they deem necessary from the personnel file.
- 24.5. When a unit member's files are to be accessed, a log shall show the name of the person opening the file and the date the activity occurred.

### ARTICLE 25: Savings and Separability

- 25.1. In the event any provision of this Agreement is held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, inclusive of appeals, if any, such provisions will not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions of the Agreement will continue and remain in full force and effect.
- 25.2. In the event provisions are invalidated as described above, the parties shall, upon request, meet no later than fifteen (15) working days after such request to discuss the impact of such a holding and to negotiate possible alternative provisions.

### **ARTICLE 26:** Complete Understanding

- 26.1. All conditions of employment and general working conditions within the scope of meeting and negotiating pursuant to Government Code Sections 3540, et seq., in effect in the District prior to and at the time this Agreement is signed are null and void. This Agreement terminates and supersedes all past practices, agreements, procedures, traditions, and rules or regulations concerning the matters covered herein. This Agreement shall not be interpreted or applied to provide unit members with professional or other advantages heretofore enjoyed unless expressly stated herein.
- 26.2. During the course of the negotiations leading to this Agreement, both parties enjoyed the unfettered right to make proposals, counter-proposals, responses and to exchange information about the matters which are covered by this Agreement as well as matters which may have been excluded from this Agreement. Accordingly, except as specifically provided herein, during the term of this Agreement neither party shall be required to negotiate with respect to any matter whether or not covered by this Agreement, and whether or not within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 27: Term and Duration

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the effective dates of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2025, and shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter unless amended, modified or terminated as provided herein. Any party wishing to amend, modify or terminate this Agreement shall send written notice to the other party of its intentions to do so no sooner than January 1, 2025, and no later than March 31, 2025. Thereafter the parties shall meet and negotiate in a good faith attempt to reach agreement for a successor collective bargaining agreement.

The District or CSEA may reopen negotiations, upon written notification to the other party on or before March 31 of any calendar year, on any two non-economic articles selected by each party. This shall not preclude any bargaining regarding plan design changes from VEBA, if applicable.

## **APPENDIX A:** Grievance Form (Article XVII)

# COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT Classified Grievance Form CSEA Agreement, Article XVII – Appendix A

Employee Name De	epartment
Immediate Supervision Da	ate of Incident
Date of Informal Conference	Date of Informal Response
State the Contract Articles and Sections alleged to have be	en violated
Employee's factual statement of incidents, alleged violation your position. (Attach second sheet if necessary.)	and grievance. Provide all facts necessary to support
State full relief/remedy/action you believe is required to res	olve your grievance.
Employee Representative (if any)	
Employee's Signature	Date
I. Step 1, Immediate Supervisor: [15 days following act or known	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Date of Response: Grievance Resolved:
	Grievance Denied:
II. Step 2, Chief Human Resources Officer [Appeal within 1:	5 working days of receipt of Date of Receipt:
Step 2 response]	Date of Response:
	Grievance Resolved:
	Grievance Denied:
III. Step 3, Superintendent/President [Appeal within 15 workin response]	
[capariae]	Date of Response:
	Grievance Resolved:
DV Oten A Medicken of a	Grievance Denied:
IV. Step 4, Mediation, (Optional)	Date of Mediation:
	Result:

IV.	Step 5, Arbitration	Date of Receipt:
		Date of Hearing:
		Date of Decision:

## **APPENDIX B: Classified Salary Schedules**

2022-2023 Classified Hourly Salary Schedule

Classified	Н	ourly	Sc	chedu	ıle	(CLA	S-	H)					
1.75%		Α		В		С		D	E	F	G	н	1
8	\$	17.48	\$	18.41	\$	19.39	\$	20.42	\$ 21.50	\$ 22.64	\$ 23.84	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.44
9	\$	18.41	\$	19.39	\$	20.42	\$	21.50	\$ 22.64	\$ 23.84	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.44	\$ 27.84
10	\$	19.39	\$	20.42	\$	21.50	\$	22.64	\$ 23.84	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.44	\$ 27.84	\$ 29.31
11	\$	20.42	\$	21.50	\$	22.64	\$	23.84	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.44	\$ 27.84	\$ 29.31	\$ 30.86
12	\$	21.50	\$	22.64	\$	23.84	\$	25.10	\$ 26.44	\$ 27.84	\$ 29.31	\$ 30.86	\$ 32.50
13	\$	22.64	\$	23.84	\$	25.10	\$	26.44	\$ 27.84	\$ 29.31	\$ 30.86	\$ 32.50	\$ 34.23
14	\$	23.84	\$	25.10	\$	26.44	\$	27.84	\$ 29.31	\$ 30.86	\$ 32.50	\$ 34.23	\$ 36.03
15	\$	25.10	\$	26.44	\$	27.84	\$	29.31	\$ 30.86	\$ 32.50	\$ 34.23	\$ 36.03	\$ 37.95
16	\$	26.44	\$	25.68	\$	29.31	\$	30.86	\$ 32.50	\$ 34.23	\$ 36.03	\$ 37.95	\$ 39.95
17	\$	27.84	\$	29.31	\$	30.86	\$	32.50	\$ 34.23	\$ 36.03	\$ 37.95	\$ 39.95	\$ 42.07
18	\$	29.31	\$	30.86	\$	32.50	\$	34.23	\$ 36.03	\$ 37.95	\$ 39.95	\$ 42.07	\$ 44.30
19	\$	30.86	\$	32.50	\$	34.23	\$	36.03	\$ 37.95	\$ 39.95	\$ 42.07	\$ 44.30	\$ 46.65
20	\$	32.50	\$	34.23	\$	36.03	\$	37.95	\$ 39.95	\$ 42.07	\$ 44.30	\$ 46.65	\$ 49.12
21	\$	34.23	\$	36.03	\$	37.95	\$	39.95	\$ 42.07	\$ 44.30	\$ 46.65	\$ 49.12	\$ 51.73
22	\$	36.03	\$	37.95	\$	39.95	\$	42.07	\$ 44.30	\$ 46.65	\$ 49.12	\$ 51.73	\$ 54.46
23	\$	37.95	\$	39.95	\$	42.07	\$	44.30	\$ 46.65	\$ 49.12	\$ 51.73	\$ 54.46	\$ 57.36
24	\$	39.95	\$	42.07	\$	44.30	\$	46.65	\$ 49.12	\$ 51.73	\$ 54.46	\$ 57.36	\$ 60.39
25	\$	42.07	\$	44.30	\$	46.65	\$	49.12	\$ 51.73	\$ 54.46	\$ 57.36	\$ 60.39	\$ 63.59

Positions less than 1.0 annual FTE

BOARD APPROVED 4/14/2023

## Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023) 2022-2023 Classified Annual Salary Schedule

Classifi	ed Annu	al Salary	Schedul	e (CLAS-	<b>A)</b>				
6.00%	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1
8	\$ 36,511.68	\$ 38,446.81	\$ 40,484.48	\$ 42,630.17	\$ 44,889.57	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81
9	\$ 38,446.81	\$ 40,484.48	\$ 42,630.17	\$ 44,889.57	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87
10	\$ 40,484.48	\$ 42,630.17	\$ 44,889.57	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96
11	\$ 42,630.17	\$ 44,889.57	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28
12	\$ 44,889.57	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52
13	\$ 47,268.71	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77
14	\$ 49,773.95	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60
15	\$ 52,411.97	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14
16	\$ 55,189.81	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02
17	\$ 58,114.87	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44
18	\$ 61,194.96	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18
19	\$ 64,438.28	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70
20	\$ 67,853.52	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03
21	\$ 71,449.77	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03	\$ 108,000.98
22	\$ 75,236.60	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03	\$ 108,000.98	\$ 113,725.04
23	\$ 79,224.14	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03	\$ 108,000.98	\$ 113,725.04	\$ 119,752.45
24	\$ 83,423.02	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03	\$ 108,000.98	\$ 113,725.04	\$ 119,752.45	\$ 126,099.34
25	\$ 87,844.44	\$ 92,500.18	\$ 97,402.70	\$ 102,565.03	\$ 108,000.98	\$ 113,725.04	\$ 119,752.45	\$ 126,099.34	\$ 132,782.60

## Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023) 2023-2024 Classified Hourly Salary Schedule

#### Classified Hourly Schedule (CLAS-H) В C 2.75 Α Ε G 19.92 8 17.96 18.92 20.98 22.09 23.26 24.50 25.79 19.92 23.26 9 27.17 18.92 20.98 22.09 24.50 25.79 10 19.92 20.98 22.09 23.26 24.50 25.79 27.17 28.61 25.79 22.09 23.26 24.50 30.12 20.98 27.17 28.61 11 23.26 24.50 27.17 31.71 12 22.09 25.79 28.61 30.12 13 23.26 24.50 25.79 27.17 28.61 30.12 31.71 33.39 14 24.50 25.79 27.17 28.61 30.12 31.71 33.39 35.17 25.79 27.17 28.61 30.12 31.71 33.39 35.17 37.02 15 35.17 16 27.17 26.39 30.12 31.71 33.39 37.02 38.99 35.17 30.12 37.02 38.99 41.05 **17** 28.61 31.71 33.39 30.12 31.71 33.39 35.17 37.02 38.99 41.05 43.23 18 41.05 19 31.71 33.39 35.17 37.02 38.99 43.23 45.52 47.93 20 33.39 35.17 37.02 38.99 41.05 43.23 45.52 21 35.17 37.02 38.99 41.05 43.23 45.52 47.93 50.47 53.15 22 37.02 38.99 41.05 43.23 45.52 47.93 50.47 41.05 43.23 45.52 47.93 50.47 53.15 55.96 23 38.99

47.93

50.47

50.47

53.15

53.15

55.96

Positions less than 1.0 annual FTE

41.05

43.23

43.23

45.52

45.52

47.93

24

25

BOARD APPROVED 04/13/2023

58.94

62.05

55.96

58.94

## Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023) 2023-2024 Classified Annual Salary Schedule

Class	ified Anr	nual Sche	dule (CLA	S-A)					
2.75	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I
8	\$37,515.75	\$39,504.10	\$41,597.80	\$43,802.50	\$46,124.03	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53
9	\$39,504.10	\$41,597.80	\$43,802.50	\$46,124.03	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03
10	\$41,597.80	\$43,802.50	\$46,124.03	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82
11	\$43,802.50	\$46,124.03	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33
12	\$46,124.03	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49
13	\$48,568.60	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64
14	\$51,142.73	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61
15	\$53,853.30	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80
16	\$56,707.53	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15
17	\$59,713.03	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16
18	\$62,877.82	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93
19	\$66,210.33	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27
20	\$69,719.49	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57
21	\$73,414.64	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57	\$110,971.01
22	\$77,305.61	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57	\$110,971.01	\$116,852.48
23	\$81,402.80	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57	\$110,971.01	\$116,852.48	\$123,045.64
24	\$85,717.15	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57	\$110,971.01	\$116,852.48	\$123,045.64	\$129,567.07
25	\$90,260.16	\$95,043.93	\$100,081.27	\$105,385.57	\$110,971.01	\$116,852.48	\$123,045.64	\$129,567.07	\$136,434.12

## Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023) 2024-2025 Classified Hourly Salary Schedule

## Classified Hourly Schedule (CLAS-H)

2.75	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
8	\$ 18.46	\$ 19.44	\$ 20.47	\$ 21.56	\$ 22.70	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91
9	\$ 19.44	\$ 20.47	\$ 21.56	\$ 22.70	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38
10	\$ 20.47	\$ 21.56	\$ 22.70	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94
11	\$ 21.56	\$ 22.70	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58
12	\$ 22.70	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31
13	\$ 23.90	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13
14	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04
15	\$ 26.50	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06
16	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18
17	\$ 29.38	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42
18	\$ 30.94	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77
19	\$ 32.58	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25
20	\$ 34.31	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86
21	\$ 36.13	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86	\$ 54.61
22	\$ 38.04	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86	\$ 54.61	\$ 57.50
23	\$ 40.06	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86	\$ 54.61	\$ 57.50	\$ 60.55
24	\$ 42.18	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86	\$ 54.61	\$ 57.50	\$ 60.55	\$ 63.76
25	\$ 44.42	\$ 46.77	\$ 49.25	\$ 51.86	\$ 54.61	\$ 57.50	\$ 60.55	\$ 63.76	\$ 67.14

Positions less than 1.0 annual FTE

**BOARD APPROVED** 

## Collective Bargaining Agreement CSEA 2022-2025 (updated August 2023) 2024-2025 Classified Annual Salary Schedule

Clas	sified An	nual Sch	edule (CL	.AS-A)					
2.75	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I
8	\$38,547.43	\$40,590.46	\$42,741.74	\$45,007.07	\$47,392.44	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99
9	\$40,590.46	\$42,741.74	\$45,007.07	\$47,392.44	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14
10	\$42,741.74	\$45,007.07	\$47,392.44	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96
11	\$45,007.07	\$47,392.44	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12
12	\$47,392.44	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78
13	\$49,904.24	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54
14	\$52,549.16	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51
15	\$55,334.26	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38
16	\$58,266.99	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37
17	\$61,355.14	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32
18	\$64,606.96	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64
19	\$68,031.12	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51
20	\$71,636.78	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67
21	\$75,433.54	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67	\$114,022.71
22	\$79,431.51	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67	\$114,022.71	\$120,065.92
23	\$83,641.38	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67	\$114,022.71	\$120,065.92	\$126,429.40
24	\$88,074.37	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67	\$114,022.71	\$120,065.92	\$126,429.40	\$133,130.17
25	\$92,742.32	\$97,657.64	\$102,833.51	\$108,283.67	\$114,022.71	\$120,065.92	\$126,429.40	\$133,130.17	\$140,186.06

### **APPENDIX C: Performance Evaluation Report**

## COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT PERFORMANCE EVALUATION REPORT CLASSIFIED PERSONNEL

\*The primary purpose of the evaluation shall be to assist the unit member in improving job knowledge and skills and to recognize the unit member's contribution to the District.

Employee's Name:		
	Last	First
Job Title:		Department:
Probationary E	v .	Check Appropriate Box Below: Annual Evaluation:
2 <sup>nd</sup> Month: 4 <sup>th</sup> Month: 6 <sup>th</sup> Month: **		Special Evaluation: Purpose:
**Recommend for Pern	nanency: Yes	No (Complete only at end of 6th month)
RATING KEY:		
4. 3. 2.	Excellent Good Satisfactory	1. Improvement Needed
to assist co-workers;	and courteously with s	Rating:students, co-workers, management, and the public; is willing instructions; willingly shares knowledge with others.
constructive criticism accepts and consister	we morale within area on and suggestions; ac	Rating: of assignment and the College as a whole; is able to accept ecepts and easily applies change; demonstrates flexibility; onsibilities; is willing to expand job knowledge.
KNOWLEDGE OF WO		Rating:
procedures; works v		of and applies District and/or departmental policies and in a group environment and consistently completes all

**Supporting Observations & Comments:** 

ATTENDANCE AND DEPENDABILITY:	Rating:
Consistently arrives to work on time; adheres to meal work on time or communicates with appropriate super- Supporting Observations & Comments:	and rest break policies and procedures; leaves
INITIATIVE:  Continually looks for ways to improve and streamline p for productivity.  Supporting Observations & Comments:	Rating: rocesses within the department; takes ownership
SAFETY PROCEDURES: Observes safety practices and follows safety policies a Supporting Observations & Comments:	Rating:nd procedures.
QUALITY OF WORK:  Demonstrates neatness, accuracy, thoroughness, and co Supporting Observations & Comments:	Rating: mpleteness in work product; takes pride in work
QUANTITY OF WORK:  Completes work in reasonable length of time; maintain Supporting Observations & Comments:	Rating: as reasonable work speed
GOALS AND OBJECTIVES: Supervisor and employee the coming year. (Use additional paper if necessary)	should jointly establish goals and objectives for
ADDITIONAL FACTORS: List any strengths not already	y covered.
In what areas if any does the ampleyee need to improve ne	ufamman as?

In what areas if any does the employee need to improve performance? List specific recommendations to help employee improve performance including timelines, available assistance and consequences for continued lack of performance.

#### RATING KEY:

- 32-28 Excellent: Exceeds most performance requirements and standards
- 27-21 Good: Exceeds many performance requirements and standards
- 20-16 Satisfactory: Meets all performance requirements and standards
- 15-8 Improvement Needed: Does not meet the performance requirement or standards in many areas or has a deficiency in an area that has an impact to the college, students, employees or the public; specific areas of improvement must be identified including objectives, timelines, coaching and consequences of continued lack of improvement.

#### **RATING KEY:**

- 32-28 Excellent: Exceeds most performance requirements and standards
- 27-21 Good: Exceeds many performance requirements and standards
- 20-16 Satisfactory: Meets all performance requirements and standards
- 15-8 Improvement Needed: Does not meet the performance requirement or standards in many areas or has a deficiency in an area that has an impact to the college, students, employees or the public; specific areas of improvement must be identified including objectives, timelines, coaching and consequences of continued lack of improvement.

OVERALL RATING OF PERFORMANCE	E:
Employee	
become part of the permanent record. My sig discussed this evaluation with my supervise	ten response within fifteen (15) working days, which shall mature below is an acknowledgement that I have seen and sor, but does not necessarily imply agreement with the king days to attach any response to this evaluation.
Employee's Signature	Date
Supervisor	
	eted evaluation form following the evaluation meeting. The bloyee signature. Please retain a copy for your records and ffice.
Evaluation Meeting Date	Supervisor's Name
Supervisors Signature	
Administrative Review and Comments:	
Administrative Signature	Date

### **APPENDIX D: Catastrophic Leave Donation Form**

I am donating to the Catastrophic Leave Bank

### COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

### **CSEA Catastrophic Leave Bank Donation Form**

Article X, Section 14

In accordance with the District/CSEA Collective Bargaining Agreement, Article X, Section 14, Classified Employees may elect to participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank. Eligible employees must have more than five days of accumulated sick leave to participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank. Leave donations may be made during the open enrollment period (July 1 – October 1). Employees on an approved leave of absence during the open enrollment period may donate to the leave bank within thirty (30) calendar days of their return to work. Only donors to the bank are eligible for withdrawals from the bank.

Employees may elect to participate by donating at least one (1) day of accumulated sick or accrued vacation leave to the bank. An employee may not contribute more than eight (8) days to the Catastrophic Leave Bank in any one open enrollment period. Once a unit member becomes a participant, they shall not be required to reenroll each year.

Sick Day(s) and/or	Vacation Day(s)
Payroll is authorized to transfer this fr	om my accrued sick or vacation leave.
Agreement. I have read and understan Article X, Section 14, Catastrophic I	on is irrevocable in accordance with the District/CSEA d the terms and conditions of the District/CSEA Agreement eave Bank. Further, I agree to hold harmless the District any and all claims and liabilities arising out of such deposit
Name:Please Print	Date:
Signature:	
during the open enrollment period from	and submit the completed form to Human Resources Office m July 1 to October 1, each year. ************************************

### **APPENDIX E: Catastrophic Leave Withdrawal Form**

### COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

### CSEA Catastrophic Leave Bank Withdrawal Form Article X, Section 14

In accordance with the District/CSEA Agreement, Article X, Section 14, bargaining unit members who have elected to participate in the Catastrophic Leave Bank are eligible to withdraw from the bank in the case of a Catastrophic event. Eligible employees must fill out and return this request form to the CSEA Chapter 800 Executive Board. The CSEA Chapter 800 Executive Board will forward the request form to the Catastrophic Leave Committee for approval. In order to be eligible to withdraw from the Catastrophic Leave bank bargaining unit members must meet all of the requirements listed in Article X, section 14.

Name:	
Position:	
Numbers o	f hours worked per week:
Numbers o	f hours requested from Catastrophic Leave Bank:
Reason for	request:
	(Attach additional sheets as necessary)
Request #	☐ 1 <sup>st</sup> request ☐ 2 <sup>nd</sup> request
If second re	equest, number of days received previously:
I understan Article X, s	d that the Catastrophic Leave Bank Committee may request additional information as stated in section 14.
Employee	Signature: Date:
Use by Cat	astrophic Leave Committee Only:
Use by Cat	
	Denied
Approved Denied reaso	Denied on:
Approved Denied reaso	Denied on:

## **APPENDIX F:** Professional Growth Application

### COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

### PROFESSIONAL GROWTH APPLICATION

Employee:				Committee's Approval:		
Job Title:				App	proved	
Application Date:				Not Approved  Reason(s):		
Course Title: (Attach catalog description)	Course Number:	Timeline:	Category: (Graduate, Undergraduate	e)	Number of Unit (Please specify Q or Semester)	Institution:
Estimated expens Yes		on	Tuition Waiver	Requ	uested (for CM	C Courses)
	Books:					
No:						
	Total:					
(Maximum reimb	oursement allow	wed per fiscal	year is \$800.00)			
*Immediate Supe *Required only if alt	rvisor's Signat	ture:		I	Date:	

### APPENDIX G: Waiver of Lunch/Meal Period

### COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

### Waiver of Lunch/Meal Period

Employee Name:	
Job Title:	Dept:
	ours or less may voluntarily agree to waive the right to a meal ift of twelve (12) hours or less, the employee may voluntarily
My signature below indicates that I am waive at any time.	ing my meal period. I understand that I can revoke this waiver
Employee Signature	Date
Supervisor Signature	Date

### **APPENDIX H: Overtime/Comp Time Approval Form**

### COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

### **Overtime/Compensatory Time Approval Form**

Employee Name:		Date:			
Job Title:		Dept:			
<u>Overtin</u>	Overtime or compensatory (comp) time must be pre-approved by the employee's immediate supervisor whenever possible.				
Note: 0	ng: (Please check one) Comp time over 8 hours per ones normal rate)	Overtime Pay Comp Ti day/40 hours per week is earned at the ov	<b>me</b> ertime rate. (1		
Date	# of Hours	Reason for Overtime			
Employee Sig		Date			
	upervisor Signature	Date			
Department Vice President Signature/ or Superintendent/President  Date					
For overtime to be paid, a form must be completed for each event and attached to the corresponding timesheet.					
Payroll Office Us	<u>e Only</u> .				
Received By:					

## APPENDIX I: Report/Request of Absence Form

## COPPER MOUNTAIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT REPORT / REQUEST OF ABSENCE FOR CLASSIFIED STAFF

Name:	# of Day(s):	# of Hours:
Date(s) of Absence:	From:	To:
Family Care Leave require prior appr	oval except in the case of an em otify their immediate supervisor	rsonal Necessity, Personal Leave (without pay) ergency. Jury Leave requires prior notification or designee as far in advance of all absences as utes prior to the start of their shift.
VACATION LEAVE (earned leave)		PERSONAL NECESSITY LEAVE
SICK LEAVE		Up to (7) days accumulated sick leave
ONE FLOATING HOLIDAY		ACCIDENT
JURY LEAVE		COURT APPEARANCE
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE (Name, Rela	• ,	DEALTH OR SERIOUS ILLNESS OF THE IMMEDIATE FAMILY
COMP TIME (using previously earned tin	me)	(Name & Relationship Required)
PERSONAL LEAVE (without pay WIT	H PRIOR HR APPROVAL)	FAMLY EMERGENCIES
FAMILY CARE LEAVE (Previously processed through HR)		EMERGENCY ADMINISTRATION OF ESTATE PROBLEMS
		MATTERS OF COMPELLING PERSONAL IMPORTANCE
Approval: YES NO		2 DAYS OF THE SEVEN (7) ALLOWABLE PER CSEA CONTRACT
<del>-</del>		
Immediate Supervisor Revised 7-1-14	Date	Employee signature Date

### **APPENDIX J:** Reclassification Request Form

### RECLASSIFICATION REQUEST FORM

Please refer to <u>Article 14</u> for a complete description of the reclassification process. The CSEA or Employee-initiated submittal period is February 1st through March 15<sup>th</sup>

1.	Ba	ckground Information	
Na	ame:		Primary Phone Number:
De	part	ment/Site:	Current Job Title:
Le	ngth	of Time in Current Position:	Primary Email Address:
Na	ame	/ Title of Immediate Supervisor:	
2.	Pro	pposed Position Title	Range
3.	Jus	stification or Reason for Request (CSEA C	BA Article 14, Section 2 <u>)</u>
	a)	If there is a significant permanent change in of one or more job areas;	the actual duties and/or the level of the responsibility
	b)	There has been a gradual accretion of new does not warrant a reclassification;	duties over a period of time. An increase in workload
	c) If the job description does not accurately reflect the current responsibilities and complexities if the position.		
	d)	The position is under-classified (including journal classification plan in the District and/or mutual	ob duties and salary in comparison with the overall ally agreed compensation survey);
4.	col	lege classifications that support your requ	otion and the job descriptions of 2-3 comparable uest for compensation placement. Please attach a up to show the changes, e.g., additions, deletions, ding salary.
5.		B – 5 sentences, briefly and accurately desc ve been added, changed or removed. Be sp	cribe any essential job duties and/or functions that pecific and concise.
6.	ind En:	icated in your most recent job description	or level of responsibility changed from what is n? For example: Decision Making Responsibility, and Standards. If yes, describe changes in level
7.		you provide guidance to other employees ployees)? Briefly explain:	(including, but not limited to student

8. Do you develop or assist in developing policies or procedures for your functional area, or the

organization as a whole? Please describe this activity below:

9.	List any formal guidelines, standards, regulations, etc. within which your job must be
	performed:

10. Please submit the Reclassification Request Form and your proposed revised job description as a PDF to Human Resources.

## **APPENDIX K:** Request For Presidential Paid Release Time Form

CO	OPPER MOUNTA	AIN COMMUNITY COL	LLEGE DISTRICT	
REQUEST FOR PRE PURSUANT TO ARTIC		<b>D RELEASE TIME</b> LASSIFIED BARGAINI	NG UNIT AGREEME	ENT
Name		Date of Reques	t	
Employee Signature		End Time		
1 7 8			<del></del>	
Chapter President must prior to such release.	t be submitted to the Approval of such	ential Paid Release Time e supervisor or designee a release time shall be pre be unreasonably denied.	at least three (3) working	ng days in advance
			[]Approved[	] Denied
CSEA President Signat	ure Date	Supervisor Signature	Date	
Revised: March 2022	Upon coi	mpletion, please forward t	to Human Resources	